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OPINION 

 Plaintiffs are police officers currently or formerly employed by the Philadelphia Police 

Department (the “PPD”), which is a department of the Defendant City of Philadelphia 

(the “City”).  Over the course of several years, Plaintiffs made a variety of Facebook posts on 

their personal accounts about hot-button topics such as race, religion, immigration, sexual 

orientation, gender, and crime.  After some of Plaintiffs’ Facebook posts came to light, the City 
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disciplined Plaintiffs, who then sued the City alleging civil rights violations.   

The City now moves for summary judgment, pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

56, on Plaintiffs’ sole remaining claim for First Amendment retaliation in violation of 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1983.  Plaintiffs Christian Fenico, Thomas Young, Thomas Gack, Edward McCammitt, Tanya 

Grandizio, Anthony Anzideo, Anthony Acquaviva, Kristine Amato, Joseph Przepiorka, William 

Bowdren, Raphael McGough, and Francis T. Sheridan (collectively, the “Fenico Plaintiffs”) and 

Plaintiffs Michael Melvin, Daniel Farrelly, Brion Milligan, Mark Palma, Bridget Bannan (as 

administrator of the estate of her late husband, Robert Bannan), Jesus Cruz, Steven Hartzell, and 

Joseph Fox (collectively, the “Melvin Plaintiffs”) allege that the City violated their rights under 

the First Amendment by disciplining them, in some cases by terminating them, in retaliation for 

their protected speech. 

For the reasons set forth below, the City’s Motion will be granted with respect to all 

Plaintiffs. 

 BACKGROUND 

Except where otherwise noted, the following facts are not in genuine dispute. 

A. The Plain View Project and Plaintiffs’ Posts 

The Facebook posts at issue here were initially exposed by the Plain View Project (“Plain 

View”).  According to its website, Plain View “is a database of public Facebook posts and 

comments made by current and former police officers from several jurisdictions across the 

United States.”  Established in 2017 and last updated in 2019, the database contains “images of 

more than 5,000 posts and comments” which, due to their subject matter or mode of expression, 

Plain View deemed likely to “undermine public trust and confidence in police.”  Plain View 

attributed over 3,000 posts to Philadelphia police officers.  Five hundred and ninety-three are tied 
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to officers who are Plaintiffs in these lawsuits.1 

The Plaintiffs’ posts resist uniform characterization.  They speak on a multitude of topics, 

including race, religion, immigration, sex, gender, policing, penology, vigilantism, just deserts, 

and others.  They take many forms, ranging from memes or news stories shared with or without 

substantial commentary, to text-block sound-offs on political plats du jour, to stray comments 

chiming in on others’ discussions.  And each Plaintiff did not contribute an equal number of 

posts to the lot—of the twenty Plaintiffs, the three with the smallest footprints collectively 

totaled less than twenty posts, while the three most prolific Plaintiffs collectively contributed 

almost two-hundred.2 

B. The Ramifications of the Plain View Report 

In February 2019, Injustice Watch—a non-profit affiliated with Plain View—wrote to the 

PPD regarding an article it was working on with the New York Times which highlighted the 

social media posts found on the Plain View database.  Specifically, it said, it was investigating 

the posts of seven Philadelphia police officers.  Plaintiffs Fenico, Melvin, and Palma personally 

received similar letters.  The PPD reviewed the social media posts and interviewed, among 

others, those three Plaintiffs.  But, at that time, it took no disciplinary action against them. 

Later that year, Plain View’s database caught the attention of several journalists at local 

 
1 This figure represents the sum total of Facebook posts either posted, shared, or commented upon by the Plaintiffs 

as a group.  Since some Plaintiffs commented on other Plaintiffs’ posts, the number of unique posts interacted with 

by Plaintiffs is smaller; however, due to the configuration of the Plain View database, that number is not easily 

ascertained. 

2 Although the number of posts associated with any given Plaintiff is not dispositive to the First Amendment 

analysis to follow, these figures—along with the other contrasts that can be drawn between posts—demonstrate that 

not all Plaintiffs engaged with social media in the same way, and underscore the importance of considering each 

Plaintiff’s claim individually.  See Fenico v. City of Philadelphia, 70 F.4th 151, 166 (3d Cir. 2023) (reversing 

District Court’s dismissal of Fenico Plaintiffs’ First Amendment retaliation claims in part because the District Court 

took a “one-size-fits-all approach” to analyzing the officers and their posts, instead of proceeding “officer-by-

officer”). 

Case 2:20-cv-03336-WB   Document 115   Filed 10/28/24   Page 3 of 298



4 

 

and national news outlets like CNN, The Philadelphia Inquirer, and Buzzfeed News.  The latter 

published a long-form article that looked not only at the posts, but also the posting officer’s 

disciplinary history. 

The news reports brought the PPD under close public scrutiny.  Protestors picketed 

outside headquarters.  Philadelphia City Council ordered investigatory “hearings . . . on 

objectionable social media posts of law enforcement officers.”  At those hearings, one citizen 

testified that she found the posts “sickening.”  Leaders from the Islamic, Hispanic, and Black 

communities met either with PPD leadership, the Mayor’s office, or both, to express concerns 

about the effect the posts could have on community policing efforts. 

The posts contained in the database (and the surrounding publicity) caused the PPD some 

degree of internal turbulence as well.  Former Acting Commissioner Christine Coulter, for 

example, testified how some officers were offended by the posts made by their fellow officers, 

and described how such division puts officers’ lives at risk and hampers recruiting efforts.  To 

bring the force together, PPD leadership set up internal “healing forums” labeled “Courageous 

Conversations,” where officers of the same rank—without the participation or involvement of 

PPD leadership—could speak freely with one another about the fallout from the posts’ 

revelation. 

C.  PPD’s Investigation 

The PPD also launched an internal investigation into the officers whose posts populated 

the database, including Plaintiffs.  Central to this investigation was the PPD’s Directive 6.10 (the 

“Social Media Policy”), Section I of which expressly forbade “[e]mployees . . . from using ethnic 

slurs, profanity, personal insults; material that is harassing, defamatory, fraudulent, or 

discriminatory, or other content or communications that would not be acceptable in a City 
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workplace under City or agency policy or practice.”  Notably, by its plain terms, Section I 

applied to officers’ social media use without regard to whether officers were on- or off-duty, or 

whether or not the post was accessible to all. 

Investigators from the PPD’s Internal Affairs team interviewed each officer whose posts 

were stored on the Plain View database, including each Plaintiff.  Each officer interviewed was 

shown copies of the posts attributed to them and asked to initial the posts.  Each Plaintiff 

initialed most, if not all, of the posts shown to them by investigators. 

After the interviews, investigators prepared Investigation Reports, in which they shared 

their determinations about whether or not an interviewed officer had violated the Social Media 

Policy.  Any violation was subsequently advanced through one of three channels: (1) the Police 

Board of Inquiry, a three-person panel of PPD members of varying ranks who, after an 

adversarial hearing, vote to determine guilt and recommend disciplinary action to the Police 

Commissioner, who makes the final decisions; (2) Command Level Discipline, whereby an 

accused’s Commanding Officer reviews the Investigation Report and metes out an appropriate 

sanction; or, (3) a Commissioner’s Direct Action, a procedure for bringing egregious cases 

directly to the attention of the Commissioner, who takes whatever disciplinary action he or she 

sees fit. 

To aid these investigations, the City retained Ballard Spahr LLP to conduct an 

independent investigation, rooted in First Amendment law, to make recommendations about 

whether to discipline any of the officers in question.  Lawyers from the firm reviewed each 

social media post identified by the PPD.  Then they provided a report (“the Outside Counsel 

Report” or “the Report”) and accompanying spreadsheet, stating with respect to each post 

whether, in their professional opinion, the posts were about matters of public concern, and 
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whether (and to what degree) the posts might cause interference with the PPD’s policing goals—

matters which are relevant to the legal analysis utilized in determining whether employee speech 

can form the basis of a disciplinary action.  The Report also sorted the posts into categories, e.g., 

“Racial,” “Homophobic,” or “Violence.”  Officers from the PPD’s leadership team also reviewed 

each post and made their own determination about the posts’ disruptiveness.  Some members of 

the leadership team testified that they used the level of disruptiveness assigned by Ballard Spahr 

as a consideration in making their own determination, whereas other members of leadership 

independently made their determinations of disruptiveness. 

Through these mechanisms, each of the Plaintiffs were found by investigators to have 

violated PPD policy, and disciplinary action was imposed on each.  The District Attorney’s 

Office also issued letters to some Plaintiffs—called Giglio letters, after the Supreme Court case 

Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972)—which described the nature of the Plaintiff’s 

conduct and alerted the Plaintiff that it “will be disclosed to the defense in all cases where you 

may be called to testify as a witness . . . .” 

In sum, the City’s review was extensive and individualized.  The City’s leadership 

conducted an interview with every Plaintiff, hired outside counsel to provide independent 

recommendations about the protected status of each post, and utilized three different review-and-

sanction mechanisms to ensure a tailored approach to each officer and their posts. 

Through these mechanisms, each of the Plaintiffs were found by PPD investigators to 

have violated PPD policy, and disciplinary action was prescribed for each.  Most Plaintiffs were 

fired or resigned from the PPD.  Some—but not all—were reinstated after appealing their 

dismissal through the police union.   
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 SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD 

A party is entitled to summary judgment if it shows “that there is no genuine dispute as to 

any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”  Fed. R. Civ. 

P. 56(a).  “By its very terms, this standard provides that the mere existence of some alleged 

factual dispute between the parties will not defeat an otherwise properly supported motion for 

summary judgment; the requirement is that there be no genuine issue of material fact.” Anderson 

v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 247-48 (1986).  “Inferences to be drawn from the 

underlying facts contained in the evidential sources must be viewed in the light most favorable to 

the party opposing the motion.”  Peters Twp. Sch. Dist. v. Hartford Acc. & Indem. Co., 833 F.2d 

32, 34 (3d Cir. 1987). 

“A genuine issue is present when a reasonable trier of fact, viewing all of the record 

evidence, could rationally find in favor of the non-moving party in light of his burden of proof.” 

Doe v. Abington Friends Sch., 480 F.3d 252, 256 (3d Cir. 2007) (citing Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 

477 U.S. 317, 322-26 (1986); Anderson, 477 U.S. at 248-52).  “The non-moving party may not 

merely deny the allegations in the moving party’s pleadings; instead he must show where in the 

record there exists a genuine dispute over a material fact.”  Id. (citation omitted).  A moving 

party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law where the “nonmoving party has failed to make a 

sufficient showing on an essential element of her case with respect to which she has the burden 

of proof.”  Celotex, 477 U.S. at 323. 

“As to materiality, the substantive law will identify which facts are material.  Only 

disputes over facts that might affect the outcome of the suit under the governing law will 

properly preclude the entry of summary judgment . . . .  More important . . . summary judgment 

will not lie if the dispute about a material fact is ‘genuine,’ that is, if the evidence is such that a 
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reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party.”  Anderson, 477 U.S. at 248. 

 FIRST AMENDMENT RETALIATION  

Although “[s]peech by government employees receives less protection than speech by 

members of the public,” Amalgamated Transit Union Loc. 85 v. Port Auth. of Allegheny Cnty., 

39 F.4th 95, 103 (3d Cir. 2022), “public employees do not surrender all of their First Amendment 

rights merely because of their employment status,” Munroe v. Cent. Bucks Sch. Dist., 805 F.3d 

454, 465 (3d Cir. 2015), as amended (Oct. 25, 2019).  Therefore, when a government employee 

has been fired due to their speech, the employee may have a viable First Amendment retaliation 

claim.  See, e.g., Rankin v. McPherson, 483 U.S. 378, 383-84 (1987).  

To establish that claim, an employee-plaintiff must prove “that (1) [their] speech is 

protected by the First Amendment and (2) the speech was a substantial or motivating factor in 

the alleged retaliatory action, which, if both are proved, shifts the burden to the employer to 

prove that (3) the same action would have been taken even if the speech had not occurred.”  

Dougherty v. Sch. Dist., 772 F.3d 979, 986 (3d Cir. 2014).  The Parties agree that Plaintiffs’ 

posts were a substantial factor in their discipline.  Therefore, the controlling question is whether 

the posts were protected by the First Amendment.  

To show that their speech is protected by the First Amendment, an employee-plaintiff 

must prove three things: (1) that they spoke “as a private citizen;” (2) on “a matter of public 

concern,” Garcetti v. Ceballos, 547 U.S. 410, 418 (2006); and, (3) that the employee and the 

public’s collective interest in the employee’s speech outweighs the government’s interest in 

avoiding disruption to its operations that could be or was caused by that speech.  Pickering v. Bd. 

of Educ., 391 U.S. 563, 568 (1968); see also Fenico, 70 F.4th at 162-63 (labelling the third factor 

“Pickering balancing”).  These three elements are all questions of law, albeit ones “that 
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nonetheless require[] a robust factual basis” to evaluate.  Fenico, 70 F.4th at 162. 

Because the Parties agree that Plaintiffs spoke as private citizens at all relevant times, 

steps two and three of this test—the public concern analysis and the Pickering balancing—will 

inform the discussion that follows.  

A. Matters of Public Concern 

Speech relates to a public concern when it is “fairly considered as relating to any matter 

of political, social or other concern to the community,” Connick v. Myers, 461 U.S. 138, 146 

(1983), or when it is a “subject of legitimate news interest; that is, a subject of general interest 

and of value and concern to the public at the time of publication,” City of San Diego v. Roe, 543 

U.S. 77, 84 (2004).  Speech that pertains to a “purely private intraoffice grievance,” on the other 

hand, does not relate to a matter of public concern.  Fenico, 70 F.4th at 163.  “Whether an 

employee’s speech addressees a matter of public concern must be determined by the content, 

form, and context of a given statement, as revealed by the whole record.”  Rankin, 483 U.S. at 

384-85.  “[T]hat the speech was uttered by a police officer does not affect the extent to which it 

might touch on matters of public concern; that factor is only relevant at the balancing phase of 

the inquiry.”  Fenico, 70 F.4th at 163. 

Crucially, the “‘inappropriate or controversial nature’ of the speech is not relevant to 

whether it touches on matters of public concern—it is only a factor in evaluating its 

disruptiveness during Pickering balancing.”  Id. at 165 (quoting Munroe, 805 F.3d at 470).  

“[E]ven the most deeply troubling speech may be of concern to the public”—for example, 

“speech touching on race relations” certainly “carries the potential to be inflammatory,” but it “is 

‘inherently of public concern.’”  Id. (quoting Connick, 461 U.S. at 148 n.8; Locurto v. Giuliani, 

447 F.3d 159, 183 (2d Cir. 2006)).   
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B. Pickering Balancing 

The final step of the protected speech analysis—the “Pickering balancing”—asks 

whether “the employee’s interest in speaking outweigh[s] the government’s interest in promoting 

workplace efficiency and avoiding disruption;” if so, the employee’s speech is protected.  Id. at 

166 (citing Pickering, 391 U.S. at 568).  “While the test for disruption varies depending upon the 

nature of the speech, the factors a court typically considers include whether the speech ‘impairs 

discipline by superiors or harmony among co-workers, has a detrimental impact on close 

working relationships for which personal loyalty and confidence are necessary, or impedes the 

performance of the speaker’s duties or interferes with the regular operation of the enterprise.’”  

Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (citing Rankin, 483 U.S. at 388).  Importantly, “an employer need 

not show that the speech in question caused actual disruption to its operations;” just “a 

reasonable likelihood of such disruption will suffice.”  Fenico, 70 F.4th at 165; see also Connick, 

461 U.S. at 152 (“[W]e do not see the necessity for an employer to allow events to unfold to the 

extent that the disruption of the office and the destruction of working relationships is manifest 

before taking action.”). 

While courts must grant “substantial weight to government employers’ reasonable 

predictions of disruption,” Waters v. Churchill, 511 U.S. 661, 673 (1994), “unadorned 

speculation as to the impact of speech,” without more, will not justify a government employer’s 

decision to discipline its employee.  Fenico, 70 F.4th at 166 (internal quotes omitted).  Still, “the 

Supreme Court has deferred heavily to employers’ reasonable interpretations of employee speech 

and predictions of disruption—especially where, as here, the employer has performed an internal 

investigation into the matter.”  Id. at 168 (citing Waters, 511 U.S. at 676).  And the Third Circuit 

has recognized its sister Circuits’ view that this deference “is especially [appropriate] for police 
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departments, which face unique internal and external dynamics.”  Id. (citing Cochran v. City of 

Los Angeles, 222 F.3d 1195, 1201 (9th Cir. 2000); Locurto, 447 F.3d at 179); see also Kelley v. 

Johnson, 425 U.S. 238, 246 (1976) (recognizing a police department’s interest in “discipline, 

esprit de corps, and uniformity”). 

 DISCUSSION 

The protected speech analysis discussed above must “at the very least” be performed “on 

an officer-by-officer basis, if not a post-by-post basis.”  Fenico, 70 F.4th at 166, 168 n.15.  This 

will be done; but for a few reasons—not least of which being that Plaintiffs did not launch, in 

their briefs, an “officer-by-officer” opposition to the City’s arguments—some further discussion 

about the protected speech analysis is in order before each Plaintiff’s claim is considered.  

A. Plaintiffs’ Global Arguments About the Protected Speech Analysis 

 It bears mentioning that these cases, in a few ways, are unlike many other First 

Amendment retaliation suits.  Much of their distinctiveness is owed to their unique facts.  The 

canonical First Amendment retaliation suit involves a single speaker making a single 

objectionable utterance.  See, e.g., Pickering, 391 U.S. at 566-67 (teacher dismissed after he 

wrote and published a letter critical of the school board’s financial decision-making); Rankin, 

483 U.S. at 379-80 (clerical employee fired after she stated, upon “hearing of an attempt on the 

life of [President Reagan], ‘If they go for him again, I hope they get him.’”).  Common variations 

on this theme include cases where multiple speakers share in a unified statement, see, e.g., Gillis 

v. Miller, 845 F.3d 677, 680-81 (6th Cir. 2017) (correctional officers terminated after they shared 

“a memorandum notifying their fellow correctional officers of their right to union 

representation”), and cases where one speaker makes several comments on the same topic which 

cause a unified uproar, see, e.g., Munroe, 805 F.3d at 472 (high school teacher fired after her 
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blog, which contained several offensive posts about her students, went public). 

The instant cases, by contrast, involve twenty individual Plaintiffs, each of whom made 

multiple statements on a bevy of subjects and in a variety of tones.  Though they were publicly 

shared, the posts went undiscovered for a considerable time—years, in some cases—until they 

were surfaced by Plain View, an advocacy group.  What’s more, when the posts were published 

by Plain View, they were situated alongside many hundreds of other statements by non-party 

officers from police forces both in and out of Philadelphia—unlike in the typical First 

Amendment retaliation case, where the speech of the complaining party is the sole or primary 

utterance at issue. 

Plaintiffs make much of this distinction, especially as it relates to questions of causality.  

They first argue that, because the City has not demonstrated that any public outrage following 

the database’s revelation was caused specifically by any of the Plaintiffs’ posts, but rather by the 

contents of the Plain View database in toto, such outrage should not be weighted against them in 

the Pickering balance.  In other words, Plaintiffs submit that, because the neat, ‘but-for’ 

causation between speech and disruption that characterizes the average First Amendment 

retaliation case is absent here, each Plaintiff’s individual speech cannot be measured against the 

sum total of collective tumult that the City maintains was aroused by the posts. 

Plaintiffs cite no authority to support this argument-by-distinction; that said, the argument 

is not without some intuitive appeal.  The facts of these cases certainly do not resemble the 

typical First Amendment retaliation suit, where a clear causal connection between particular 

speech and disruption (likely or actual) is readily demonstrable.  Nor do they resemble a suit 

where multiple tortfeasors can be said to have independently but sufficiently caused a shared 

harm; if they did, then there would be no issue with assigning each Plaintiff the full scope of the 
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actual disruption allegedly caused by the database’s revelation.  Cf. Fischer v. Governor of N.J., 

842 F. App’x 741, 755 (3d Cir. 2021) (Phipps, J., concurring) (“If an injury has multiple 

sufficient causes, then any of those causes suffices to establish fairly traceable causation.”). 

If Plaintiffs were right—if the disruption caused by a group of employees could not be 

held against any individual employee unless that employee, considered alone, was a sufficient 

cause of the disruption—then a government employer’s ability to root out disruptive speech 

would diminish as the number of disruptive speakers grows and their voices become more 

cacophonous, in that it would be more difficult to attribute sufficient responsibility to any given 

employee.  This outcome is inconsistent with the Supreme Court’s emphasis on the importance 

of the government employer’s interest in taking corrective measures to alleviate or prevent 

disruption caused by employee speech.  Consider the Court’s characterization of this interest in 

Waters v. Churchill: 

Government agencies are charged by law with doing particular tasks.  Agencies 

hire employees to help do those tasks as effectively and efficiently as possible.  

When someone who is paid a salary so that she will contribute to an agency’s 

effective operation begins to do or say things that detract from the agency’s 

effective operation, the government employer must have some power to restrain 

her.  The reason [a] governor may . . . fire [a] deputy is not that this dismissal 

would somehow be narrowly tailored to a compelling government interest.  It is 

that the governor and the governor’s staff have a job to do, and the governor 

justifiably feels that a quieter subordinate would allow them to do this job more 

effectively. 

 

The key to First Amendment analysis of government employment decisions, then, 

is this: The government’s interest in achieving its goals as effectively and 

efficiently as possible is elevated from a relatively subordinate interest when it 

acts as sovereign to a significant one when it acts as employer.  The government 

cannot restrict the speech of the public at large just in the name of efficiency.  But 

where the government is employing someone for the very purpose of effectively 

achieving its goals, such restrictions may well be appropriate. 

 

511 U.S. at 674-75.  As the Waters Court made clear, the government’s interest in operating its 

workplaces “as effectively and efficiently as possible” is no minor concern.  Id. at 675.  And as 
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the number of disruptive employees increases, so too does the potential for future disruption, and 

so the necessity for the government to restore quietude.  After all, the Pickering analysis is a 

balancing test.  See Pickering, 391 U.S. at 568 (“The problem in any case is to arrive at a balance 

between the interests of the [employee], as a citizen, in commenting upon matters of public 

concern and the interest of the State, as an employer, in promoting the efficiency of the public 

services it performs through its employees.”). 

 Thankfully, the dilemma constructed by Plaintiffs—either hold the full weight of the 

actual disruption alleged by the City against all Plaintiffs, or hold none of it against them—is a 

false choice.  As stated previously, it is axiomatic that an employer need not “allow events to 

unfold to the extent that the disruption of the office and destruction of working relationships is 

manifest before taking action” against disruptive employee speech—a reasonable belief that the 

speech could cause disruption is enough.  Connick, 461 U.S. at 152; see also Fenico, 70 F.4th at 

166 (“[A]n employer need not show that the speech in question caused actual disruption to its 

operations in order to satisfy Pickering—a reasonable likelihood of such disruption will 

suffice.”).  So, in the analysis that follows, if the undisputed facts show that the City reasonably 

found that an individual Plaintiff’s posts were likely to cause a disruption, then actual disruption 

need not be considered.  See Connick, 461 U.S. at 151-52 (“When close working relationships 

are essential to fulfilling public responsibilities, a wide degree of deference to the employer’s 

judgment is appropriate.  Furthermore, we do not see the necessity for an employer to allow 

events to unfold to the extent that the disruption of the office and the destruction of working 

relationships is manifest before taking action.”).  That said, whether or not actual disruption was 

in fact caused by the speech in question is a relevant concern when evaluating the reasonableness 

of the government’s assessment of likely disruption; accordingly, undisputed allegations of actual 
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disruption (or lack thereof) will be considered in the Pickering balance insofar as they can be 

reasonably connected to an individual Plaintiff.  See, e.g., Amalgamated Transit, 39 F.4th at 104-

05 (finding that a lack of actual disruption caused by previous speech in the workplace similar to 

the speech at issue undermined the government’s assessment of likely disruption); Munroe, 805 

F.3d at 477-78 (citing public outrage over teacher’s offensive comments as evidence validating 

school’s “claim[] that the actual and potential disruption caused by [the teacher’s] speech 

outweighed her free speech rights”). 

 Plaintiffs’ second causal argument is essentially an instantiation of this point—that 

evidence of actual disruption (or lack thereof) can inform the determination of whether an 

employer’s prediction about likely disruption is a reasonable one.  Specifically, Plaintiffs point to 

the undisputed fact that their “posts had existed in ‘plain view’ for several years . . . without any 

evidence of discovery” to argue that the posts were not likely to be discovered by the public in 

the first place, and were thus unlikely to cause disruption.3 

In this connection, Plaintiffs cite to Moser v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department 

for the proposition that “a court may discount the government employer’s fears of disruption if 

there is little evidence that the offending speech has been or will be discovered.”  984 F.3d 900, 

910 (9th Cir. 2021).  In that case, a SWAT officer was disciplined for making a Facebook post 

 
3 Though Plaintiffs acknowledge that the posts were eventually discovered by Plain View, they argue that “there is 

an enormous difference between the likelihood of disruption created by the happenstance discovery of one of the 

Plaintiffs’ social media posts by a member of the public versus its discovery by a targeted, investigative reporting 

team which has as its agenda the public exposure of any social media post it subjectively finds offensive.”  Plaintiffs 

do not spell out what they believe this “enormous difference” to be, but the implication is that Plain View’s 

motivations should somehow inform the Pickering analysis in a manner beneficial to Plaintiffs.  Whatever this 

argument is meant to convey, Plaintiffs cite no authority in support, so it will not be considered.  See Reynolds v. 

Wagner, 128 F.3d 166, 178 (3d Cir. 1997) (“[A]n argument consisting of no more than a conclusory assertion such 

as the one made here . . . will be deemed waived.”); see also E.D. Pa. Local Civ. R. 7.1(c) (“Every motion not 

certified as uncontested . . . shall be accompanied by a brief containing a concise statement of the legal contentions 

and authorities relied upon in support of the motion.”) (emphasis added). 
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that appeared to endorse the extrajudicial use of force against an individual suspected of shooting 

a police officer, and the District Court granted summary judgment in favor of the police 

department on the plaintiff’s First Amendment retaliation claim.  Id. at 902.  The Ninth Circuit 

reversed, finding that the police department had failed to provide adequate evidence to support 

their prediction of disruption where the offensive post was reported to the department by 

anonymous tipster, was not the subject of news coverage or other public exposure, and was 

removed from Facebook after a few months’ time.  Id. at 910-11. 

Plaintiffs accurately distill one principle underpinning Moser’s holding—that evidence 

indicating that the speech in question went undiscovered by the public at large can undermine a 

claim that the speech was likely to cause disruption.  But Moser involved a single offensive 

Facebook comment which was never discovered by the public at large, whether through news 

coverage or word of mouth; instead, the post’s existence was reported directly to the police by a 

single anonymous tipster within months of being posted and was taken down shortly thereafter 

without causing any stir in the wider community.  Id.  In the instant cases—as Plaintiffs do not 

dispute—the offensive Facebook posts were eventually discovered by the public at large, as they 

were covered by local and national news.  Therein lies the difference.  Moser does not stand for 

the proposition that offensive speech is unlikely to cause a disruption if it takes a long time to be 

discovered—indeed, as the Ninth Circuit noted, what matters is whether or not “the 

community . . . discovered the speech or would inevitably discover it.”  Id. at 909; see also 

Munroe, 805 F.3d at 477 (observing that the eventual discovery of a teacher’s offensive blog 

undermined her argument that it was unlikely to cause a disruption, even where the blog had 

only a “small readership” and offered “relative anonymity” before its discovery). 

Notably, the Third Circuit’s Fenico opinion touches on a similar issue.  See Fenico, 70 
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F.4th at 167-68 (“[The Fenico Plaintiffs] also allege that some of their posts were several years 

old, raising yet unrebutted causal questions as to whether a uniform likelihood of disruption 

could extend to all [the Fenico Plaintiffs’] posts.”).  However, in raising this issue, the Third 

Circuit’s concern was with the District Court’s “one-size-fits-all approach” to the Pickering 

balancing, id. at 166, which reflexively assigned a “uniform likelihood of disruption” to all 

Plaintiffs and all posts, id. at 168, despite the fact that Plaintiffs’ posts were not monolithic (and 

thus their likelihood of disruption was not uniform).  The Third Circuit’s holding was not that, 

when analyzing the disruption likely to be caused by each Plaintiff’s posts, the duration those 

posts sat undiscovered must be treated as a dispositive fact in Plaintiffs’ favor (just as the fact 

that the posts were eventually discovered does not require a ruling in the City’s favor).  Rather, 

in raising these “yet unrebutted causal questions as to whether a uniform likelihood of disruption 

could extend to all [the Fenico Plaintiffs’] posts,” the Third Circuit sought to ensure that, 

however else the ‘disruption’ inquiry may shake out, it must be conducted with an eye toward 

each Plaintiff’s individual speech, accounting for whatever facts may be relevant in that 

consideration (whether concerning timing, causation, or any other relevant concern).  Id. at 167-

68. 

This issue also percolated through Fenico in the context of a discussion of Amalgamated 

Transit, a case which turned on the question of whether or not a government employer’s 

assessment of likely disruption was reasonable.  Fenico, 70 F.4th at 167 (discussing 

Amalgamated Transit, 39 F.4th at 101).  The case involved employee discipline meted out under 

the Port Authority of Allegheny County’s policy, implemented during the Covid-19 pandemic, 

that forbade employees from wearing face masks with political messages like “Black Lives 

Matter” and “Trump 2020” while on duty.  Amalgamated Transit, 39 F.4th at 101.  The Port 
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Authority argued that these masks were likely to cause a disruption, but the Third Circuit found 

otherwise, citing to an evidentiary record that demonstrated “only minimal risk” of disruption.  

Id. at 105 (“The record shows a lone employee complaint, three race-related incidents among 

Port Authority employees within the past fifteen years, wholly unrelated to and predating the 

mask rules, and electronic messages among employees expressing differing opinions about the 

Black Lives Matter movement.”).   

In Fenico, the Third Circuit used Amalgamated Transit to demonstrate “that it is not 

impossible for an employee to show that their controversial speech is unlikely to cause 

disruption.”  70 F.4th at 167.  However, it also noted that Amalgamated Transit is “distinct in a 

few key ways”—ways that limit its applicability here, particularly now that a fuller evidentiary 

record has been built out through discovery.  Id.  Of critical importance here is that, in 

Amalgamated Transit, the evidentiary record suggested that customers witnessed the allegedly 

offensive masks—meaning that the speech had likely been discovered by the public and by 

fellow employees—yet no great uproar had occurred.  Amalgamated Transit, 39 F.4th at 104-05.  

In the present cases, by contrast, the City provides evidence of how the public and certain 

employees reacted quite passionately to the revelation of the offensive posts—and putting aside 

the previously disposed concern about attributing the sum total of that disturbance to any 

individual Plaintiff, the Plaintiffs do not dispute that, for example, community groups loudly 

expressed their displeasure about the posts made by Plaintiffs and other PPD officers.  This 

factual difference alone suggests that, for purposes of this litigation, Amalgamated Transit 

should not be leaned upon for much more than the proposition highlighted by the Third Circuit in 

Fenico—namely, “that it is not impossible” in certain cases “for an employee to show that their 

controversial speech is unlikely to cause disruption.”  Fenico, 70 F.4th at 167. 
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Putting aside these concerns about causation and disruption, the instant cases are unlike 

typical First Amendment retaliation suits for another reason: The Plaintiffs’ each had multiple 

posts and comments included in the Plain View database, but only certain of those posts and 

comments formed the basis of the City’s disciplinary actions.  This quirk is, however, easily 

dealt with.  Because the City has identified precisely for which posts each Plaintiff was 

disciplined, only those identified posts will be considered in the Pickering analysis.  

Plaintiffs also attack the propriety of the City’s internal investigation.  They point to 

statements from members of PPD leadership sharing their belief that the Plain View database 

(and the accompanying publicity, spearheaded by Injustice Watch) was politically one-sided—

i.e., only targeting and publishing Facebook posts that betrayed conservative viewpoints, not 

liberal ones.  Then, Plaintiffs impute that perceived political slant to the City, presenting what 

they term “comparator” posts: posts which supposedly have a liberal slant, which were posted by 

self-identified PPD officers, and which could be seen to violate the Social Media Policy, but 

whose authors were never disciplined by the PPD.  But the “comparator” posts were never 

published in the Plain View database, and Plaintiffs do not argue that the City knew about them.  

So any claim that the City discriminated based on viewpoint is not supported by the record. 

In any event, Plaintiffs have pleaded First Amendment retaliation claims, not claims 

alleging the Social Media Policy is an ex ante, viewpoint-discriminatory prior restraint on 

speech.4  Although “[c]oncern over viewpoint discrimination is the very reason Pickering 

 
4 Plaintiffs attack the PPD’s internal investigation in a few other ways, none of which map onto the First 

Amendment retaliation analysis.  First, they challenge that they had sufficient notice of the Social Media Policy, 

arguing that no officer was ever substantively trained on what it required and forbade.  Plaintiffs’ view is that 

sanctioning officers for violating the Policy, without them ever having received such training, is unfair. 

Next, Plaintiffs argue that the actual reason the PPD sanctioning them was pretextual, and that the investigation 

itself was conducted in an arbitrary manner.  In support of their pretext argument, the Plaintiffs cite then-

Commissioner Ross’s press conference in July 2019—conducted while the investigation was still ongoing—during 
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rejected the older rule that the First Amendment does not protect government-employee speech,” 

Amalgamated Transit, 39 F.4th at 108, the proper test for analyzing Plaintiffs’ retaliation claims 

is the one announced in Pickering itself, as described above—not one which considers 

“comparator” posts or similarly situated officers.  And even if these “comparator” posts were 

likely to cause disruption, as Plaintiffs suggest, nothing in Pickering or its progeny requires that 

an employer ferret out all employee speech that is unprotected by the First Amendment and 

discipline its speakers.  Cf. Waters, 511 U.S. at 675 (“The reason the [government] may . . . fire 

[an employee] is not that this dismissal would somehow be narrowly tailored to a compelling 

governmental interest.  It is that the [government has] a job to do . . . .”). 

B. The Officer-By-Officer Analysis 

As a threshold matter—after having reviewed each post for which Plaintiffs were 

disciplined—every post speaks about a matter of public concern.  The posts touch on the topics 

of race and ethnicity;5 religion and religiously motivated terrorism;6 immigration, refugees, and 

 
which he stated that thirteen officers would be fired.  In support of their arbitrariness argument, Plaintiffs cite to the 

metrics that the PPD used in measuring the amount of interference Plaintiffs’ posts could have caused. 

But arguments about notice, arbitrariness, pretext, and the fairness of the PPD’s investigation and resulting sanctions 

all sound in due process, a claim not before the Court. 

5 The following posts touched on race and/or ethnicity (with citations to the City’s Statement of Undisputed Material 

Facts, or “SUMF”): SUMF at ¶¶ 53(a), (b), (f), (h), (k); 76(l); 101(f); 113(a), (c); 120(j), (k), (l), (m); 129(l); 163(d); 

174(b), (k), (m); 183(e), (f), (l); 194(e); 203(i), (t), (x), (bb), (ff), (gg), (hh), (ii), (kk), (oo). 

 
6 The following posts touched on religion and religiously motivated terrorism: SUMF at ¶¶ 53(c), (d), (e), (g), (j); 

76(o); 83(b), (d); 92(a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), (g), (h), (j), (l), (m), (n), (p), (q), (r), (t), (u), (v), (x), (y), (z); 101(g), (k), 

(n); 113(d); 120(d), (e), (f), (g), (i); 129(a), (c), (m), (n); 137(a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f); 146(c), (d); 154(a), (b), (e); 

174(d), (g), (i), (n); 183(d), (e), (g), (j); 194(c), (d); 203(a), (b), (d), (e), (f), (g), (h), (l), (m), (n), (o), (p), (r) , (s), (t), 

(u), (v), (y), (z), (aa), (dd), (ee), (ll); 220(b), (c), (d), (f), (i), (j), (k). 
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cultural assimilation;7 sex, gender, and sexuality;8 local and national news stories and political 

figures;9 protests and protestors;10 and policing, crime, and punishment, whether meted out by 

the justice system or by vigilantes.11  All of these are topics which can be “fairly considered as 

relating to any matter of political, social or other concern to the community,” Connick, 461 U.S. 

at 146, or are otherwise of “legitimate news interest”—e.g., they are “subject[s] of general 

interest and of value and concern to the public at the time of publication,” City of San Diego, 543 

U.S. at 84.12  

Speech about race relations, “[w]hile it carries the potential to be inflammatory . . . is 

‘inherently of public concern.’”  Fenico, 70 F.4th at 165 (quoting Connick, 461 U.S. at 148 n.8); 

see also Locurto, 447 F.3d at 183 (“Whatever our own views of the quality and prudence of the 

 
7 The following posts touched on immigration, refugees, and/or cultural assimilation: SUMF at ¶¶ 61(a); 83(c); 

92(c), (f), (j), (p), (q), (v); 101(g), (k), (m), (n); 113(d), 129(k); 154(a); 174(n); 203(b), (g), (l), (m), (q), (r), (y), (ee), 

(bb), (ii), (ll), (nn), (oo); 220(f), (h), (j), (k). 

8 The following posts touched on sex, gender, and sexuality: SUMF at ¶¶ 76(p), (r); 101(j); 129(s); 154(f), (j); 

174(h), (i); 183(h), (i); 203(k), (o); 220(e), (j). 

9 The following posts touched on local and national news stories and political figures: SUMF at ¶¶ 92(l), (u), (v); 

101(a), (c), (d); 120(b), (h), (l), (m); 129(e), (i), (o), (p); 146(a), (c), (f); 163(b); 174(k); 183(b). 

10 The following posts touched on protests and protestors: SUMF at ¶¶ 61(c), (d); 76(g), (j), (k); 83(f); 92(w); 

101(e), (l); 120(h); 129(j), (r); 154(f), (g), (h), (i), (j); 163(c); 174(l); 194(f), (i); 220(m), (cc). 

11 The following posts touched on policing, crime, and punishment: SUMF at ¶¶ 53(i); 61(b); 68(a), (b), (c), (d), (e); 

76(a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), (h), (i), (m), (n), (q), (s); 83(a), (e), (g); 92(i), (k), (o), (s), (w), (aa); 101(b), (c), (d), (h), 

(i), (o), (p); 113(b), (c); 120(a), (c), (j); 129(b), (d), (f), (g), (h), (q), (t); 146(b), (e), (g) ; 154(c), (d) ;163(a), (c), (d); 

174(a), (b), (c), (e), (f), (j), (o); 183(a), (b), (c), (i), (k); 194(a), (b), (g), (h), (i); 203(c), (d), (j), (w), (jj), (mm); 

210(a); 220(a), (l), (m). 

12 It is worth noting that a few of Plaintiffs’ posts tread close to the line separating public concerns from private 

matters—for example, Plaintiff Przepiorka’s “Mexican Word of the Day” post about the National Football League 

rivalry between Green Bay and Dallas, or Plaintiff Palma’s comment about “smok[ing] a cigar” with one of his 

Facebook friends who suggested that Philadelphia’s Rocky Balboa statue might be defaced by racial justice 

activists.  But even these posts do not constitute the kinds of “purely private intraoffice grievances” that courts have 

found to fall entirely outside the First Amendment’s ambit.  Fenico, 70 F.4th at 163.  Instead, because they invoke 

concepts that are of public concern, like race relations and social justice activism, they are not “private grievances in 

which the public might have little interest,” and they “clear th[e] first hurdle” on the path toward protection under 

the First Amendment.  Id. at 163-64. 
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plaintiffs’ chosen means of expression, commentary on race is, beyond peradventure, within the 

core protections of the First Amendment.”).   

Religion, and the relationship between religious teachings and “the fate of our Nation,” 

are likewise matters of public concern.  Snyder v. Phelps, 562 U.S. 443, 454 (2011) (finding that 

picket signs with the messages “God Hates the USA/Thank God for 9/11,” “America is 

Doomed,” “Don’t Pray for the USA,” “Thank God for IEDs,” among others, spoke on matters of 

public concern).   

The same goes for speech about immigration.  See, e.g., Dodge v. Evergreen Sch. Dist. 

#114, 56 F.4th 767, 777 (9th Cir. 2022) (finding that a teacher’s hat bearing the phrase “Make 

America Great Again” constituted speech on “issues such as immigration, racism, and bigotry, 

which are all matters of public concern”).   

So too for sex, gender, and sexuality.  See, e.g., Snyder, 562 U.S. at 454 (finding that 

picket signs with the messages “Fag Troops,” “Semper Fi Fags,” “God Hates Fags,” and “Fags 

Doom Nations” spoke on matters of public concern); Warren v. DeSantis, 90 F.4th 1115, 1130 

(11th Cir. 2024) (finding that “[t]ransgender rights and abortion” were subjects of public 

concern). 

As for the posts that shared local and national news stories, it is axiomatic that stories of 

“legitimate news interest” are matters of public concern.  City of San Diego, 543 U.S. at 84; see 

also Munroe, 805 F.3d at 470-71 (reasoning that “the extensive media coverage” of a teacher’s 

blog posts about her students suggested that her speech involved a matter of public concern).  

The same is true of speech about political figures.  See, e.g., Rankin, 483 U.S. at 386 (speech 

concerning President Reagan and “the policies of [his] administration” touched on matters of 

public concern). 
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Protests and protestors, too, are “subject[s] of general interest and of value and concern to 

the public.”  Lane v. Franks, 573 U.S. 228, 241 (2014) (internal quotations omitted).  As is 

speech involving policing, crime, and punishment.  See Bowley v. City of Uniontown Police 

Dep’t, 404 F.3d 783, 787-88 (3d Cir. 2005) (“[T]he commission and investigation of violent 

crimes . . . are matters of ‘paramount public import.’”) (quoting Fla. Star v. B. J. F., 491 U.S. 

524, 536-37 (1989)); see also Morris v. Lindau, 196 F.3d 102, 111 (2d Cir. 1999) (finding that 

“speech on crime rates” and “police staffing . . . quite plainly involve matters of public 

concern”); Moser, 984 F.3d at 907 (reasoning that “a comment advocating unlawful violence by 

law enforcement” would involve a matter of public concern).   

With that said, what follows is an “officer-by-officer” Pickering balancing for each 

Plaintiff and their posts.  Fenico, 70 F.4th at 166, 168 n.15. 

a. Anthony Acquaviva 

Detective Acquaviva began working for the PPD in 2007.  At his Internal Affairs 

interview, Acquaviva was shown a packet containing seventeen posts that were included in the 

Plain View database, each page of which he initialed.  He contends that he initialed each page to 

confirm that it had been shown to him during the interview, and not to acknowledge that he had 

made the posts; he does not, however, explicitly deny making any of the posts attributed to 

him.13  

 
13 All Plaintiffs make similar contentions.  The City asserts that this review-and-initial mechanism served the 

purpose of authenticating that each post was the officer’s own, but Plaintiffs contend that the initials indicated only 

that the officer acknowledged having been shown the posts.  Whether or not the Plaintiffs knew the purpose of the 

initializing mechanism is immaterial, because the Plaintiffs do not uniformly deny having made the posts in 

question—they merely dispute the significance of their initials.  Furthermore, at oral argument, counsel for the 

Melvin Plaintiffs conceded that, by initialing, the Melvin Plaintiffs confirmed that they made each post. 

 

Acquaviva also stresses that he does not remember making these posts, suggesting that this fact should somehow 

affect the analysis.  But Acquaviva’s memory is not at issue—what matters is whether he made the posts, and he 

never asserts that he did not.  In any event, “[w]hen opposing parties tell two different stories, one of which is 

blatantly contradicted by the record, so that no reasonable jury could believe it, a court should not adopt that version 

 

Case 2:20-cv-03336-WB   Document 115   Filed 10/28/24   Page 23 of 298



24 

 

The PPD sanctioned Acquaviva for eleven of his posts.  As determined in Section IV.B 

supra, each of his posts dealt with a matter of public concern. 

Two posts are memes about the Confederate battle flag: 

 
of the facts for purposes of ruling on a motion for summary judgment.”  Scott v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 380 (2007).  

Acquaviva’s name and likeness appears atop every Facebook post that his sanction was grounded upon; it is not 

reasonably believable, without some evidence otherwise, that the posts were not his.   
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One post depicts a Black man with his pants below his waist, and what appears to be a diaper 

visible, with the caption “ThuggiesTM”: 
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Five posts speak about Muslim or Arab people and their place in American society: 
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Two posts share Acquaviva’s thoughts on respect for the armed forces and law enforcement: 
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And one image makes implications about President Obama’s race or religion:  
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After the Internal Affairs interview, the District Attorney’s Office issued a Giglio letter to 

Acquaviva which characterized his posts as “exhibiting anti-Muslim bias.”  The Outside Counsel 

Report found that his posts “likely would have a significant impact on policing because of the 

repeated use of racial stereotyping against African Americans, encouraging racial profiling, 

repeated anti-Muslim comments, and encouraging violence against people in these groups.”  The 

Commissioner issued a Direct Action charging Acquaviva with Conduct Unbecoming and 

Neglect of Duty.  Acquaviva resigned before he could be suspended or terminated.   

As stated, all of Acquaviva’s posts touch on matters of public concern.  The question is 

whether “the interests of both [Acquaviva] and the public in the speech at issue” are outweighed 

by “the [City’s] legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting workplace 

efficiency and avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting McGreevy 

v. Stroup, 413 F.3d 359, 364 (3d Cir. 2005)).   

Here, the City’s interest in preventing the disruption actually or likely caused by 

Acquaviva’s posts is substantial, and it outweighs his and the public’s interest in the posts.  

Acquaviva’s posts invoke racial stereotypes about black men being “thugs;” suggest that Muslim 

women “ha[ve] no place on American soil;” and advocate for violence against those who assault 

police officers and military members, among other things.  These comments, when made by a 

police officer like Acquaviva, are likely to jeopardize the “relationship of trust between the 

police . . . and the communities they serve” because they suggest that members of those 

communities will not receive fair treatment or adequate protection from police officers who 

speak in this manner.  Locurto, 447 F.3d at 183.  The PPD is sworn to protect and serve a diverse 

community that includes African Americans, Muslims, and other Philadelphians, whether or not 

they are critical of the police and military; accordingly, Acquaviva’s speech, which suggests a 
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bias against members of those groups, has a high potential for disrupting effective policing.  See 

Munroe, 805 F.3d at 474 (“[I]nvective directed against the very persons that the governmental 

agency is meant to serve could be expected to have serious consequences for the performance of 

the speaker’s duties and the agency’s regular operations.”).   

Indeed, the events that followed the Plain View database’s revelation confirm the 

sensibility of this prediction—leaders from the Black and Muslim communities met with PPD 

leadership and the Mayor’s office to express their concerns about the Plain View posts which 

included those made by Acquaviva.  Furthermore, Acquaviva’s speech could also reasonably be 

predicted to vitiate his credibility at trial if he were to testify against a member of the 

aforementioned groups; the District Attorney’s Office recognized as much when it issued him a 

Giglio letter.  To be clear, what is relevant here is not so much the issuance of the Giglio letter 

itself, but rather the PPD’s and the District Attorney’s Office’s knowledge that a defense 

attorney would be likely to try to use the content of Acquaviva’s posts to impeach him at any 

trial at which he is called to testify (now that those posts have been made accessible through the 

Plain View database) and the concomitant concern that prosecutors may, accordingly, choose not 

to put him on the stand. 

The City has demonstrated that Acquaviva’s posts were likely to cause significant 

interference with the PPD’s operations.  Because the City’s interest in preventing this disruption 

outweighs Acquaviva’s and the public’s interest in his Facebook posts, his posts are not 

protected as a matter of First Amendment law.  Accordingly, for the reasons set forth above, the 

City is entitled to summary judgment on his First Amendment retaliation claim. 

b. Kristine Amato 

Officer Amato began working for the PPD in 1990.  At her Internal Affairs interview, 

investigators showed her a packet containing nineteen posts and comments contained in the Plain 
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View database under the name “Yo Stuff,”14 each page of which she initialed. 

Amato was sanctioned for four of her posts.  As determined in Section IV.B supra, each 

of her posts dealt with a matter of public concern.   

Two posts were comments about immigration and refugees that Amato left on other 

people’s posts: 

 

 
14 Amato posted on Facebook under a nom de plume, other Plaintiffs used their middle names in lieu of their 

surnames when posting, and no Plaintiff affirmatively identified themselves as a PPD officer on their Facebook 

page.  Plaintiffs argue that these facts suggest that the likelihood their posts would be discovered, and that disruption 

would ensue, is small.  But they ignore the fact that Plain View was able to deduce each Plaintiff’s identity (and 

their employment as a PPD officer) based on their publicly available Facebook data.  Here, as in Munroe, “[t]he 

discovery” of Plaintiffs’ posts “undermines Plaintiff[s’] early assumptions that [their] . . . relative anonymity would 

protect [their posts] from reaching” the public’s attention.  Munroe, 805 F.3d at 476-77. 
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One post was a comment regarding the use of force and its role in handling suspects: 
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And the last was a post about protestors who apparently had gathered outside the home of a PPD 

officer: 
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After the interview, the District Attorney’s Office issued a Giglio letter to Amato.  The 

Outside Counsel Report found that Amato’s posts “likely would have some impact on policing 

because they advocate police violence, express anti-Muslim violence and racial bias.”  The 

Commissioner issued a Direct Action charging Amato with Conduct Unbecoming and Neglect of 

Duty and imposed a thirty-day suspension. 

As stated, all of Amato’s posts touch on matters of public concern.  The question is 

whether “the interests of both [Amato] and the public in the speech at issue” are outweighed by 

“the [City’s] legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting workplace 

efficiency and avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting 

McGreevy, 413 F.3d at 364). 

Here, the City’s interest in preventing the disruption that Amato’s posts were likely to 

cause outweighs her and the public’s interest in the posts.15  With regards to her comment about 

 
15 Amato, like most of the Plaintiffs, provides context for the posts in question (e.g., that the “Temple Turbans” 

comment was left on a video depicting a violent protest) and shares that she “never intend[ed] to be mean-spirited” 

in making the posts.  This context is offered in support of a triptych of arguments. 

 

Plaintiffs first argue that the City and Ballard Spahr should have—but did not—evaluate the “content, form, and 

context” of their posts.  Rankin, 483 U.S. at 385.  Regardless, the inquiry as to whether the posts are protected 

speech is for the Court—so, while what the City and Ballard Spahr did or did not do is in the mix, it is not 

dispositive one way or the other here.  Fenico, 70 F.4th at 162 (“The inquiry into the protected status of speech is a 

question of law . . . .”). 

 

Next, Plaintiffs argue that there are factual disputes about the meaning of some posts that preclude summary 

judgment.  For a dispute about a post’s meaning to preclude summary judgment, the Plaintiff’s proffered meaning 

must “affect the outcome of the suit”—i.e., it must tip the Pickering balance in the Plaintiff’s favor.  Anderson, 477 

U.S. at 248.  Wherever Plaintiffs have suggested a colorable reading of a post’s meaning that differs from the City’s, 

the Court has used the Plaintiff’s.  However, in no case has doing so “affect[ed] the outcome of the suit”—as 

described throughout, even Plaintiffs’ proffered readings of their posts have a potential for disruption that outweighs 

their and the public’s interest in the posts.  Id. 

 

Finally, Plaintiffs rely on Munroe to emphasize that satirical, humorous, and even purposefully offensive posts can 

still be protected.  805 F.3d at 470.  True enough.  But by the same token, “the inappropriate tone of the speech . . . 

could play a critical role in ascertaining the existence and likelihood of disruption.”  Id. at 474.  Indeed, in Munroe, 

the Third Circuit noted that “Plaintiff’s [purposefully offensive] speech, in both effect and tone, was sufficiently 

disruptive as to diminish any legitimate interest in its expression.”  Id. at 473 (internal quotations omitted).  As 

explained throughout, the same holds true in these cases. 
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Muslim immigrants allegedly refusing food, Amato commented “Send these ungrateful fucks 

back . . . Fuck them!”  This comment directs “invective” toward Muslim immigrants, who are 

some of “the very persons that the governmental agency is meant to serve,” Munroe, 805 F.3d at 

474; it is therefore likely to erode trust between the PPD and the Muslim community in 

Philadelphia, and to render Amato an unreliable witness in any trial involving a defendant who is 

a Muslim or a refugee.  This kind of disruption was not just likely—it occurred; as Deputy 

Commissioner Wimberley testified, the Muslim community expressed its discomfort both to 

PPD leadership and the Mayor regarding the Islamophobic posts revealed by Plain View. 

Two other comments, one referring to “Temple Turbans” (a phrase that Amato explained 

in her deposition refers to head bandages given to protestors at Temple University Hospital) and 

the other commending an officer for running over a suspect, are just as likely to cause significant 

disruption because they advocate for extrajudicial violence against protestors and criminal 

suspects—groups that police officers are sworn to protect, not to attack.16  See, e.g., Grutzmacher 

v. Howard Cnty., 851 F.3d 332, 347 (4th Cir. 2017) (speech that “advocat[ed] violence to certain 

classes of people” was likely to disrupt a fire department’s operations because it had the 

“potential . . . to diminish the [d]epartment’s standing with the public”). 

The City has demonstrated that Amato’s posts were likely to cause significant 

interference with the PPD’s operations.  Because the City’s interest in preventing this disruption 

outweighs Amato’s and the public’s interest in the posts, her posts are not protected.  

Accordingly, for the reasons set forth above, the City’s Motion for Summary Judgment will be 

 
16 Amato, like several other Plaintiffs, was reinstated after her termination and has since received no complaints 

from citizens accusing her of any kind of maltreatment.  According to Plaintiffs, this fact undermines the City’s 

predictions about disruption, because it demonstrates that Plaintiffs’ posts are not mirrors of their behavior as police 

officers.  But as the Third Circuit has recognized, the fact that Plaintiffs have been reinstated without incident does 

not “somehow estop[] or bar[]” the City “from claiming that the actual and potential disruption caused by [Plaintiffs’ 

posts] outweighed [their] free speech rights” at the time Plaintiffs were disciplined.  Munroe, 805 F.3d at 478. 
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granted as to Amato’s First Amendment retaliation claim. 

c. Anthony Anzideo 

Detective Anzideo began working for the PPD in 2007.  During his Internal Affairs 

interview, he was shown sixty-three posts and comments contained in the Plain View database.  

He initialed sixty-one of these sixty-three posts.  He declined to initial the remaining two posts 

because the name on the screenshots of the posts were redacted.  Later, in his deposition, 

Anzideo testified that he never would have initialed the posts had he known that the posts had 

not been “authenticated,” and that he had heard rumors that the posts might have been “edited,” 

but he does not offer evidence to dispute the authenticity of the posts. 

In any event, out of the sixty-one posts that Anzideo initialed, the PPD sanctioned him 

for five.  As determined in Section IV.B supra, each of his posts dealt with a matter of public 

concern.   

All five of the posts consisted of commentary on recent criminal activity: 
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The Outside Counsel Report described Anzideo’s posts as having “some, although 

somewhat lesser, impact on policing because they advocate violence against those who have 

been accused of crimes.”  Anzideo was sanctioned for Neglect of Duty, and after an internal 

review process, served a one-day suspension. 

As stated, all of Anzideo’s posts touch on matters of public concern.  The question is 

whether “the interests of both [Anzideo] and the public in the speech at issue” are outweighed by 

“the [City’s] legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting workplace 
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efficiency and avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting 

McGreevy, 413 F.3d at 364).   

Here, the disruption that Anzideo’s posts are likely to cause outweighs his and the 

public’s interest in the posts.17  He uses phrases like “animal” and “POS” (understood here to 

mean “piece of shit”) to refer to criminal suspects and defendants, groups of people whose safety 

is entrusted to police as part of the core duty of their calling.  This kind of “invective,” when 

“directed” by a police officer “against the very persons that the [police are] meant to serve[,] 

could be expected to have serious consequences for the performance of the speaker’s duties and 

the agency’s regular operations.”  Munroe, 805 F.3d at 474; see also Grutzmacher, 851 F.3d at 

347 (speech that “advocat[ed] violence to certain classes of people” was likely to disrupt a fire 

department’s operations because it had the “potential . . . to diminish the [d]epartment’s standing 

with the public”).   

And because Anzideo’s posts expressed such disdain for people whose safety he is 

entrusted with as a police officer, it is highly likely that those posts could be used to impeach his 

credibility if his testimony was offered at a criminal trial.  Indeed, Anzideo recognized as much 

in his deposition testimony and answers to the City’s interrogatories; he gave an example of a 

“federal jury trial for a shooting incident that occurred in Philadelphia, PA, in which he was the 

assigned investigator,” and described how federal prosecutors decided not to call him to the 

stand so “that the news article and website published by Injustice Watch on the Plain View 

Project could not come into question . . . .” 

 
17 Two of the posts’ meanings are in dispute: the posts that use the phrase “take him out.”  The City argues that the 

posts “suggest” that Anzideo “condoned the use of lethal force by police for vengeance.”  Anzideo asserts that he 

meant to express only his hope that the police apprehend the suspects.  But resolving that question in Anzideo’s 

favor does not change the outcome of the Pickering balancing, for the reasons set forth above.  Anderson, 477 U.S. 

at 248.   
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The City has demonstrated that Anzideo’s posts were likely—and in fact did—cause 

significant interference with the PPD’s operations.  Because the City’s interest in preventing this 

disruption outweighs Anzideo’s and the public’s interest in his posts, his posts are not protected.  

Accordingly, for the reasons set forth above, summary judgment will be granted in favor of the 

City on Anzideo’s retaliation claim. 

d. Robert Bannan 

Officer Bannan began working for the PPD in 1990.  During his Internal Affairs 

interview, Bannan was shown sixty-two social media posts and comments from the Plain View 

database.  He initialed each and admitted that he operated a Facebook account under the name 

“Bob Bannan,” the same name used to share each social media post.   

Out of the sixty-two posts shown to him, Bannan was sanctioned for twenty-one.  

However, the Parties have presented only nineteen posts.  As determined in Section IV.B supra, 

each of his posts dealt with a matter of public concern.   

Eight posts propose violence against individuals who were suspected of engaging in 

criminal activity: 
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Three posts involve the “hands up, don’t shoot” mantra that groups like Black Lives Matter 

adopted after the police shooting of Michael Brown in Ferguson, Missouri: 

Case 2:20-cv-03336-WB   Document 115   Filed 10/28/24   Page 57 of 298



58 

 

Case 2:20-cv-03336-WB   Document 115   Filed 10/28/24   Page 58 of 298



59 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case 2:20-cv-03336-WB   Document 115   Filed 10/28/24   Page 59 of 298



60 

 

Two posts are about women and girls: 
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One comments on the weather, invoking a stereotype of a Mexican accent in doing so: 
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Three poke fun at criminal suspects or defendants:  
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One is a joke about Islamic terrorism: 
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And one is a comment about political violence:  

 

After the interview, the District Attorney’s Office issued a Giglio letter to Bannan, 

characterizing his posts as evidencing “disrespect of the law.”  The Outside Counsel Report 

described Bannan’s posts as “likely” to “have a significant impact on policing because they 

advocate violence against people accused of crimes, including suggesting that police take 

violence [sic] against suspects, they contain racial stereotyping of several different ethnic groups, 

including African Americans and others, and use sexist imagery and language suggesting that 

women belong in the kitchen and should keep quiet.”  The Commissioner issued a Direct Action 

charging Bannan with Conduct Unbecoming and Neglect of Duty.  Bannan resigned thereafter. 

As stated, all of Bannan’s posts touch on matters of public concern.  The question is 

whether “the interests of both [Bannan] and the public in the speech at issue” are outweighed by 

“the [City’s] legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting workplace 

efficiency and avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting 

McGreevy, 413 F.3d at 364).   
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Here, the City’s interest is weightier.  The bulk of Bannan’s posts—eight total—advocate 

for extrajudicial violence perpetrated against suspects and defendants in one-off instances of 

crime.  In one, Bannan shares a news story of two parents who abused and killed a child, and 

then “volunteer[s] to beat” two defendants—in Bannan’s words, “worthless animals”—“upon 

their conviction of murder.”  In another post, Bannan argues that a defendant is a “monster” that 

“should be shot.”  It is not genuinely disputed that this group of Bannan’s posts advocate for 

vigilante violence against defendants and suspects.  Indeed, Bannan reinforced that viewpoint in 

one meme which said, “statistics show that criminals commit less crime after they’ve been shot.”  

Bannan’s opinion about defendants and suspects is evidenced by three more posts, which mock 

suspects and defendants being chased, or who have been apprehended, by law enforcement.  One 

proclaims, “scream like the little girl you are.”  Because these posts “advocat[e] violence to 

certain classes of people”—in this case, criminal suspects and defendants—Bannan’s speech has 

a high “potential . . . to diminish the [PPD’s] standing with the public . . . .”  Grutzmacher, 851 

F.3d at 347.   

His posts making fun of women and Black Lives Matter protestors are likewise disruptive 

because they demonstrate bias against those groups, thereby eroding the “relationship of trust” 

between the police and the public that the PPD relies on.  Locurto, 447 F.3d at 183.  What’s 

more, these posts could jeopardize Bannan’s credibility in just about any criminal proceeding 

because they demonstrate, as the District Attorney’s Office recognized in the Giglio letter it 

issued him, a general “disrespect for the law.” 

The City has shown that Bannan’s posts were likely to cause significant interference with 

the PPD’s operations.  Because the City’s interest in avoiding this disruption outweighs 

Bannan’s and the public’s interest in his posts, his posts are not protected.  Accordingly, for the 
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reasons set forth above, the City is entitled to summary judgment on Bannan’s First Amendment 

retaliation claim.  

e. William Bowdren 

Detective Bowdren began working for the PPD in 1996.  At the Internal Affairs 

interview, he was shown a twenty-page packet containing fourteen social media posts from the 

Plain View database, of which he initialed each page.  He acknowledged that he maintained a 

Facebook account under the name “William Bowdren,” and that the packet contained social 

media posts made by his Facebook account. 

Bowdren was sanctioned for seven of his posts.  As determined in Section IV.B supra, 

each of his posts dealt with a matter of public concern.   

Two involved Islam: 
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One involved immigration: 
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And four discussed protestors, suspects, and criminal defendants:  
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After the Internal Affairs interview, the District Attorney’s Office issued Bowdren a 

Giglio letter, which characterized his posts as exhibiting “anti-Muslim bias” and advocating 

“torture for murder suspects.”  The Outside Counsel Report characterized the posts as “likely” to 

“have a somewhat significant impact on policing because they promote vigilante violence and 

police brutality, and contain anti-Muslim and anti-immigrant comments.”  After the investigation 

was finished, Bowdren was charged with Neglect of Duty, but his sanction is still pending. 
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As stated, all of Bowdren’s posts touch on matters of public concern.  The question is 

whether “the interests of both [Bowdren] and the public in the speech at issue” are outweighed 

by “the [City’s] legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting workplace 

efficiency and avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting 

McGreevy, 413 F.3d at 364). 

Here, the City’s interest is weightier.  Two of Bowdren’s posts advocate for defendants 

charged with murder “to be tortured and mutilated in a public square” or “to be exterminated 

immediately.”  These posts advocate for extrajudicial violence against criminal defendants, and 

thus could undermine the public trust in law enforcement.  See, e.g., Grutzmacher, 851 F.3d at 

347 (speech that “advocat[ed] violence to certain classes of people” was likely to disrupt a fire 

department’s operations because it had the “potential . . . to diminish the [d]epartment’s standing 

with the public”).  The same posts could be used to impeach Bowdren at trial in just about any 

criminal proceeding, rendering him less useful to the prosecution as a witness—a core function 

of his duties as a member of law enforcement.  And Bowdren’s posts about Islam and Muslims 

direct “invective . . . against the very persons that the governmental agency is meant to serve,” 

and therefore “could be expected to have serious consequences for the performance of 

[Bowdren’s] duties and the [PPD’s] regular operations.”  Munroe, 805 F.3d at 474.  The fact that 

leaders from Philadelphia’s Muslim community met with PPD leadership and the Mayor’s Office 

to share their concerns about posts like his is an example of such a consequence. 

The City has demonstrated that Bowdren’s posts were likely to cause significant 

interference with the PPD’s operations.  Because the City’s interest in preventing this disruption 

outweighs Bowdren’s and the public’s interest in the posts, his speech is not protected.  

Accordingly, for the reasons set forth above, the City’s Motion for Summary Judgment will be 
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granted as to Bowdren’s retaliation claim. 

f. Jesus Cruz 

Officer Cruz began working for the PPD in 1989.  The Plain View database contains 

thirty-six posts attributed to Cruz, all of which he initialed when shown them at his Internal 

Affairs interview.  Cruz did not deny making any of the posts in question. 

Cruz was sanctioned for twenty-seven posts.  As determined in Section IV.B supra, each 

of his posts dealt with a matter of public concern.   

Twelve posts shared his thoughts on Islam and its followers: 
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Ten more commented on Islam too, albeit through a distinctly political lens—either blaming 

President Obama for Islamic terrorism or Muslim migrants, or agreeing with President Trump 

about the need to prevent Muslim migrants from entering the country.  This group of posts also 

mentioned then-recent terror attacks: 
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Three posts involved news stories about violent interactions between members of the public and 

police officers:  
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One post shared an opinion about the treatment of those who kill police officers: 
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And finally, one post celebrated the death of an attempted rapist at the hands of the alleged 

victim’s husband:  

 

After Cruz’s Internal Affairs interview, the District Attorney’s Office issued him a Giglio 

letter.  The Outside Counsel Report described Cruz’s posts as likely having “a significant impact 

on policing because there are a large number of posts that are anti-Muslim and promote violence 

against Muslims, as well as promoting violence by police against suspects.”  The Commissioner 
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issued a Direct Action charging Cruz with Conduct Unbecoming and Neglect of Duty.  He was 

sanctioned with dismissal, but retired before the termination became effective.   

As stated, all of Cruz’s posts touch on matters of public concern.  The question is whether 

“the interests of both [Cruz] and the public in the speech at issue” are outweighed by “the 

[City’s] legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting workplace 

efficiency and avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting 

McGreevy, 413 F.3d at 364). 

Here, the City’s interest in preventing the disruption that Cruz’s posts were likely to 

cause outweighs his and the public’s interest in the posts.  In some of his posts, Cruz calls 

criminal suspects “animal[s]” and “piece[s] of dog shit.”  In other posts, Cruz simply attacks 

Muslim people for being Muslim—e.g., referring to “piece of shit Muslim[s]” and “that fucked 

up religion of Islam.”  This kind of invective against people whose safety the police are duty-

bound to ensure is likely to erode trust between the police and the public.  See Munroe, 805 F.3d 

at 474.  He also calls Islam an “evil cult,” and suggests America should “make peace” with it via 

nuclear weaponry.  This type of language would not merely be “of passing interest to members 

of the [Muslim] community; rather, [because] they were the very objects of [Cruz’s] derision,” it 

would likely jeopardize the working relationship between that community and the PPD.  

Locurto, 447 F.3d at 183.  Indeed, leaders from the Muslim community expressed these concerns 

when posts like these were brought to light.  The same can be said about Cruz’s post cosigning 

the viewpoint that a person who kills a police officer should be killed in return, without any due 

process whatsoever—his blasé attitude toward the Constitution and legal process could 

undermine his credibility in any criminal proceeding. 

The City has demonstrated that Cruz’s posts were likely to cause significant interference 
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with the PPD’s operations.  Because the City’s interest in preventing this disruption outweighs 

Cruz’s and the public’s interest in his posts, his posts are not protected.  Accordingly, for the 

reasons set forth above, summary judgment will be entered in favor of the City on Cruz’s First 

Amendment retaliation claim. 

g. Daniel Farrelly 

Officer Farrelly began working for the PPD in 2002.  The Plain View database contains 

twenty-five posts attributed to Farrelly, none of which he denied having posted when shown 

them at his Internal Affairs interview.  The Facebook posts were all posted under the name 

“Daniel Mike.”   

Farrelly was sanctioned for the following seventeen posts and comments.  As determined 

in Section IV.B supra, each of his posts dealt with a matter of public concern.   

Three were about dealing with protestors using violence: 
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Four dealt with law enforcement tactics used to quell lawlessness: 
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Three dealt with Islam and Muslim refugees: 
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One commented about those who participate in social welfare programs: 
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One despaired the state of a neighborhood in Philadelphia: 
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Two are attempts at humor at the expense of Black people or gay men. 
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And one post displays apathy at the shooting death of a teenager. 
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After the interview, the District Attorney’s Office issued a Giglio letter to Farrelly, which 

described his posts as inciting “violence and advocating excessive force against protestors and 

exhibiting racial, religious, and sexuality-based bias.”  The Outside Counsel Report described 

Farrelly’s posts as likely to “have a significant impact on policing because they express animus 

towards Muslims, advocate violence, express animus towards African Americans and contain 

slurs against members of the LGBTQ community.”  At the end of the investigation, Farrelly was 

charged with Conduct Unbecoming and Neglect of Duty.  As a sanction, he was dismissed from 

the PPD. 

As stated, all of Farrelly’s posts touch on matters of public concern.  The question is 

whether “the interests of both [Farrelly] and the public in the speech at issue” are outweighed by 

“the [City’s] legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting workplace 

efficiency and avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting 

McGreevy, 413 F.3d at 364). 

Here, that balance weighs in favor of the City.  Several of Farrelly’s posts either 

expressly advocate for, or at least condone, violence against protestors—including one post that 

describes a fantasy wherein a frustrated driver has “had enough, and just plows through” 

protestors on the street.  These posts have the “potential . . . to diminish the [PPD’s] standing 

with the public” because PPD officers are tasked with ensuring protestors safety.  Grutzmacher, 

851 F.3d at 347.  His post calling a gay man a “fudge-packer” and his posts suggesting Muslims 

are violent people who should be banned from American soil “could be expected to have serious 

consequences for the performance of [Farrelly’s] duties,” Munroe, 805 F.3d at 474, including his 

duty to testify in support of his arrests; the District Attorney’s Office recognized as much when it 

issued him a Giglio letter.  And the post suggesting that police “teach these [criminal] assholes a 
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lesson on who runs the streets” flouts the community’s expectation that they all, including those 

who live in a high-crime area like the one depicted in that post, will be treated appropriately. 

The City has demonstrated that Farrelly’s posts were likely to cause significant 

interference with the PPD’s operations.  Because the City’s interest in preventing this disruption 

outweighs Farrelly’s and the public’s interest in his posts, Farrelly’s posts are not protected.  

Accordingly, for the reasons set forth above, summary judgment will be entered in favor of the 

City on Farrelly’s First Amendment retaliation claim. 

h. Christian Fenico 

Fenico began working for the PPD in 2003.  Before the Plain View database was 

published, and after receiving a letter from Injustice Watch regarding his posts, Fenico was 

interviewed by PPD leadership.18  During this first interview, Fenico admitted that he maintained 

a Facebook Account under the name “Chris Joseph,” but denied making any posts that might 

have shown bias, used any dehumanizing language or implicated law enforcement, violence, or 

any suspect or defendant’s rights.  Fenico was then interviewed a second time.  This time, seven 

of his posts from the Plain View database were shown to him.  He initialed each post, and this 

time did not deny making any of them. 

 
18 In Plaintiffs’ view, the fact that Fenico and certain other Plaintiffs were initially interviewed after the Injustice 

Watch letters were sent, but were not disciplined at that time, undermines the City’s determination that the posts 

were likely to disrupt.  At oral argument on the instant Motion, the City responded that, during these initial 

investigations, the officers were not disciplined because the PPD was unable to locate the specific posts that are at 

issue here.  Plaintiffs respond that the fact that the posts were not easy to find means that the posts were unlikely to 

disrupt. 

 

As discussed earlier, the posts’ likelihood of disruption is not necessarily tied to the difficulty of finding them, such 

that posts which are hard to find are automatically unlikely to disrupt.  See Munroe, 805 F.3d at 476-77 (“The 

discovery of the blog undermines Plaintiff’s early assumptions that her small readership and relative anonymity 

would protect her personal comments from reaching their subjects, especially as the blog was not password 

protected.”). 
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Fenico was sanctioned for four posts.19  As determined in Section IV.B supra, each of his 

posts dealt with a matter of public concern.   

One was a comment about Jamie Foxx’s public statements on race: 

 

 

 
19 Fenico disputes the authenticity of some of the posts shown to him.  For example, he denies commenting “let 

them starve to death” regarding Muslim immigrants who had supposedly turned away free food.  Rather, he asserts 

that the “post was absolutely 100 [percent] edited.”  But even accepting that point as true, it is not dispositive here in 

that “if . . . [an] employer makes a factual mistake about [an] employee’s” speech when disciplining the employee, 

the employer may still defend against a First Amendment retaliation claim if the employer’s interest in preventing 

potential disruption outweighs the employee’s interest in making the perceived speech.  Heffernan v. City of 

Paterson, N.J., 578 U.S. 266, 273 (2016); see also DiMarco v. Borough of Saint Clair, No. 22-2865, 2023 WL 

6442603 at *2 n.1 (3d Cir. Oct. 3, 2023) (citing Heffernan for same). 
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One concerned Muslim refugees: 
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And two involve acts of police use of force: 
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After the investigation, the District Attorney’s Office issued Fenico a Giglio letter which 

noted that that one of his posts exhibited “anti-Muslim bias.”  The Outside Counsel Report 

described Fenico’s posts as likely to “have a somewhat significant impact on policing based on 

the cavalier attitude towards police brutality and inciting racial violence, as well as anti-Muslim 

comments and suggesting that minorities commit crimes and deserve to be shot by police while 

whites do not.”  The Commissioner issued a Direct Action charging Fenico with Conduct 

Unbecoming and Neglect of Duty.  Fenico was dismissed from the PPD. 

As stated, all of Fenico’s posts touch on matters of public concern.  The question is 

whether “the interests of both [Fenico] and the public in the speech at issue” are outweighed by 

“the [City’s] legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting workplace 

efficiency and avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting 

McGreevy, 413 F.3d at 364). 

Here, the City’s interest is weightier.  Fenico commented on a post about Muslim 

immigrants allegedly refusing food offered to them: “Good, let them starve to death.  I hate every 

last one of them.”  This post directs the kind of “invective” against Muslims and/or refugees that 

“could be expected to have serious consequences for the performance of the speaker’s duties and 

the agency’s regular operations.”  Munroe, 805 F.3d at 474.  Other of Fenico’s comments reflect, 

as the Outside Counsel Report put it, a “cavalier attitude towards policy brutality.”  In one post, 

he commends police officers for “smash[ing]” a “teen boy’s face” while the officers “tased him,” 

commenting, “[w]ho cares, kid and mom are scumbags.  Good job police.”  In another post, he 

comments on police brutality as it pertains to race, writing “I like the ‘why is there no epidemic 

of white cops shooting white kids’. Ummm.”  Fenico’s celebration of police brutality “advocates 

violence” and has the “potential . . . to diminish” the PPD’s “standing with the public . . . .”  
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Grutzmacher, 851 F.3d at 347.  Because of comments like these, Fenico’s credibility as a witness 

would be suspect in criminal proceedings where he testified as a witness (as evidenced by the 

District Attorney’s issuing Fenico a Giglio letter). 

The City has demonstrated that Fenico’s posts were likely to cause significant 

interference with the PPD’s operations.  Because the City’s interest in preventing this disruption 

outweighs Fenico’s and the public’s interest in his posts, his posts are not protected.  

Accordingly, for the reasons set forth above, summary judgment will be granted in favor of the 

City on Fenico’s retaliation claim. 

i. Joseph Fox 

Officer Fox began working for the PPD in 1990.  At the Internal Affairs interview, Fox 

was shown twenty-seven social media posts and comments from the Plain View Database, each 

of which he initialed.  He admits that he “authored many of” the posts, but does not identify any 

that he did not.   

Fox was sanctioned for thirteen posts.  As determined in Section IV.B supra, each of his 

posts dealt with a matter of public concern.   

Five posts are about Muslims: 
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Four were comments about race, history, and racial justice: 
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One expressed his frustration about working overtime as a perceived result of the protests that 

occurred in Ferguson, Missouri, after Michael Brown’s death at the hands of police: 

 

 

 

One post dealt with his frustration about anti-police sentiment: 
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One expressed his dissatisfaction with the mayor, while calling certain undisclosed individuals 

“animals.” 

 

Another contained a story about his day at work: 
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The Outside Counsel Report described Fox’s posts as likely to “have a significant impact 

on policing because they advocate bigotry and violence against Muslims and African 

Americans.”  Once the report was finalized, the Commissioner issued a Direct Action charging 

Fox with Conduct Unbecoming and Neglect of Duty.  Fox was sanctioned with dismissal, but 

resigned before he could be terminated. 

As stated, all of Fox’s posts touch on matters of public concern.  The question is whether 

“the interests of both [Fox] and the public in the speech at issue” are outweighed by “the [City’s] 

legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting workplace efficiency and 

avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting McGreevy, 413 F.3d at 

364). 

Here, the City’s interest outweighs Fox’s and the public’s.  Many of Fox’s posts endorse 

violence against Muslims.  For example, he twice shared the same image of a woman in a burqa.  

In the first post, he asks, “When is open season on these fuckers?”  Two weeks later, Fox shared 

a cropped version of the image, so viewers could only see the woman in the burqa, with the 

caption “Got some new targets for range day!”  Just before sharing those posts, Fox shared that 

he was “teaching [his] dogs to start Pissing [sic] on Muslims.  That’s a start.”  About a month 

after all that, Fox posted a “great joke” he had “heard,” that the “Best Muslim” is “A Dead One.”  

Violent language like Fox’s, when directed against those whom the police are meant to protect—

even if delivered in jest—is likely to disrupt the efficient operation of the PPD.  See Locurto, 447 

F.3d at 179 (finding likely disruption where police officers’ speech expressed bias against groups 

in the community); Fenico, 70 F.4th at 167 (citing Locurto for same).  Indeed, the likelihood of 

this kind of disruption was validated when Muslim and Black leaders expressed their concerns 

about members of the PPD speaking in such a way.  Fox also admitted in his deposition that, if 
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he were called to testify in a case with a Muslim defendant, “the[] [jury] would believe that [he] 

was some sort of racist” based on his posts, and thus his credibility would be brought into 

question. 

The City has demonstrated that Fox’s posts were likely to cause significant interference 

with the PPD’s operations.  Because the City’s interest in preventing this disruption outweighs 

Fox’s and the public’s interest in his posts, Fox’s posts are not protected.  Accordingly, for the 

reasons set forth above, summary judgment will be granted in favor of the City on Fox’s 

retaliation claim. 

j. Thomas Gack 

Officer Gack began working for the PPD in 1993.  At the Internal Affairs interview, 

Gack was shown thirty-two posts and comments from the Plain View database, of which he 

initialed each.  He admitted that he maintained a Facebook account under the name “Tom Gack.”   

Gack was sanctioned for twenty posts.  As determined in Section IV.B supra, each of his 

posts dealt with a matter of public concern.   

Six concerned Islam and Muslims:  

Case 2:20-cv-03336-WB   Document 115   Filed 10/28/24   Page 141 of 298



142 

 

 

Case 2:20-cv-03336-WB   Document 115   Filed 10/28/24   Page 142 of 298



143 

 

 

Case 2:20-cv-03336-WB   Document 115   Filed 10/28/24   Page 143 of 298



144 

 

Case 2:20-cv-03336-WB   Document 115   Filed 10/28/24   Page 144 of 298



145 

 

 

Case 2:20-cv-03336-WB   Document 115   Filed 10/28/24   Page 145 of 298



146 

 

Case 2:20-cv-03336-WB   Document 115   Filed 10/28/24   Page 146 of 298



147 

 

 

 

Case 2:20-cv-03336-WB   Document 115   Filed 10/28/24   Page 147 of 298



148 

 

One dealt with transgender individuals using gender-conforming restrooms: 
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One dealt with armed self-defense: 
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Four concerned child molesters: 
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Three posts dealt with race and the Black Lives Matter movement: 
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One was a meme comparing Obama voters to chimpanzees holding their hand out in expectation: 
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One was a joke about Hillary Clinton, told at the expense of Mexicans: 
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Three dealt with the use of force against protestors, Antifa, and criminal suspects and defendants: 
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 After the Internal Affairs interview, the District Attorney’s Office issued Gack a Giglio 

letter which described his posts as exhibiting “multiple forms of racial, religious, and” anti-

LGBTQ bias.  The Outside Counsel Report described Gack’s posts as likely to “have a 

significant impact on policing based on several posts that advocate vigilante-style violence 

against people accused of crimes, referring to African Americans as thugs, as well as a number 

of anti-Muslim comments and anti-LGBTQ comments.”  After the investigation terminated, 

Gack was charged with Conduct Unbecoming and Neglect of Duty and sanctioned with 

dismissal. 

As stated, all of Gack’s posts touch on matters of public concern.  The question is 

whether “the interests of both [Gack] and the public in the speech at issue” are outweighed by 

“the [City’s] legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting workplace 

efficiency and avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting 

McGreevy, 413 F.3d at 364). 

Here, Gack’s and the public’s interests are outweighed by the City’s.  Several of Gack’s 

posts express his approval of vigilante violence and suggest a bias against Muslims, which mean 

that he could be effectively discredited at almost any trial in which the District Attorney’s Office 

needed to call him as a witness.  Second, Gack’s posts about race (e.g., the “Thuggies™” meme), 

religion (e.g., the “Happy Ramadan” meme), and sexuality (e.g., the transgender bathroom 

meme) could undermine the PPD’s relationship with members of the communities those posts 

address.  Munroe, 805 F.3d at 474 (“[I]nvective directed against the very persons that the 

governmental agency is meant to serve could be expected to have serious consequences for the 

performance of the speaker’s duties and the agency’s regular operations.”).  Finally, Gack’s 

comments advocating for extrajudicial violence against criminals, such as “this POS needs to be 
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beaten to death by the families of his victims,” also “advocate violence to certain classes of 

people” and therefore have a high “potential . . . to diminish the [PPD’s]” reputation with the 

public.  Grutzmacher, 851 F.3d at 347. 

The City has demonstrated that Gack’s posts were likely to cause significant interference 

with the PPD’s operations.  Because the City’s interest in preventing this disruption outweighs 

Gack’s and the public’s interest in his posts, Gack’s posts are not protected.  Accordingly, for the 

reasons set forth above, summary judgment will be granted in favor of the City on Gack’s 

retaliation claim. 

k. Tanya Grandizio 

Corporal Grandizio began working for the PPD in 1995.  At the Internal Affairs 

Interview, she was shown fourteen posts from the Plain View database, all of which she initialed.  

She does not deny having made the posts in question.   

Grandizio was sanctioned for six posts; two posts consisted of the same graphic which 

Grandizio posted twice.  As determined in Section IV.B supra, each of her posts dealt with a 

matter of public concern.   

All of the posts expressed sentiments about Islam and Muslims: 
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 After the interview, the District Attorney’s Office issued Grandizio a Giglio letter stating 

that her posts exhibited “anti-Muslim bias.”  The Outside Counsel Report described Grandizio’s 

posts as likely to “have a somewhat significant impact on policing because they contain a 

number of anti-Muslim comments.”  After the investigation concluded, the Commissioner issued 

a Direct Action charging Grandizio with Conduct Unbecoming and Neglect of Duty.  She was 

sanctioned with a thirty-day suspension.  

As stated, all of Grandizio’s posts touch on matters of public concern.  The question is 

whether “the interests of both [Grandizio] and the public in the speech at issue” are outweighed 

by “the [City’s] legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting workplace 

efficiency and avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting 

McGreevy, 413 F.3d at 364). 

 Here, the City’s interest is weightier.  All of Grandizio’s posts concern her views on 

Islam and Muslims—for example, her belief that “a Muslim” person can never “be a good 

American.”  A reasonable citizen reading Grandizio’s comments could conclude that she harbors 

bias against Muslims; for that reason, her posts could impair the “relationship of trust” between 

the Muslim community and the PPD that the agency relies on to do its job efficiently and 

effectively.  Locurto, 447 F.3d at 183.  Indeed, under one of Grandizio’s posts, another Facebook 

user expressed this very concern, writing “stuff like this . . . pushes us further apart.”  And it was 

posts like Grandizio’s that, according to Deputy Commissioner Wimberly, led a group 

representing the “Islamic community here in Philadelphia” to meet specifically with PPD and/or 

City leadership to “share[] their concerns of how . . . police will treat them as people” based on 

the posts’ expressed viewpoints about Muslims.  On top of that, because of these posts, 

Grandizio’s credibility is in jeopardy in any trial where she is called to testify against a Muslim 
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person, as the District Attorney’s Office recognized in issuing her a Giglio letter. 

The City has demonstrated that Grandizio’s posts were likely to cause significant 

interference with the PPD’s operations.  Because the City’s interest in preventing this disruption 

outweighs Grandizio’s and the public’s interest in her posts, Grandizio’s posts are not protected.  

Accordingly, for the reasons set forth above, summary judgment will be granted in favor of the 

City on Grandizio’s retaliation claim. 

l. Steven Hartzell 

Officer Hartzell began working for the PPD in 1993.  At the Internal Affairs Interview, 

Hartzell was shown 37 posts and comments from the Plain View database, all of which he 

initialed.  He does not deny having made the posts. 

 Hartzell was disciplined for seven posts.  As determined in Section IV.B supra, each of 

his posts dealt with a matter of public concern.   

Three involve news reports of people being shot, either by police or by other members of 

the public: 
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Three involved news and events in Philadelphia: 
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And the last involved immigration by Muslims: 

 

 The Outside Counsel Report found that these seven posts had the potential to cause a 

“significant impact on policing due to several posts that advocate vigilante-style violence, as well 

as posts that are anti-Muslim, a post that refers to citizens of Philadelphia as ‘hood rats’ and one 

which . . . is pejorative to people with disabilities and, potentially, African Americans.”  After 

the Internal Affairs interview, the Commissioner issued a Direct Action charging Hartzell with 

Conduct Unbecoming and Neglect of Duty.  Hartzell was dismissed from the PPD, but resigned 

before his dismissal became effective. 
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As stated, all of Hartzell’s posts touch on matters of public concern.  The question is 

whether “the interests of both [Hartzell] and the public in the speech at issue” are outweighed by 

“the [City’s] legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting workplace 

efficiency and avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting 

McGreevy, 413 F.3d at 364). 

 Here, Hartzell’s posts are likely to cause significant disruption to the PPD’s effective 

operation, such that the City’s interest is weightier.  The posts—which included a call to “nuke” 

Muslim neighborhoods,” and generally celebrated the death of suspects at the hands of police—

are likely to erode trust between the PPD and Philadelphia’s citizens, especially its Muslim 

community.  See Munroe, 805 F.3d at 474 (“[I]nvective directed against the very persons that the 

governmental agency is meant to serve could be expected to have serious consequences for the 

performance of the speaker’s duties and the agency’s regular operations.”); see also 

Grutzmacher, 851 F.3d at 347 (speech that “advocat[ed] violence to certain classes of people” 

was likely to disrupt a fire department’s operations because it had the “potential . . . to diminish 

the [d]epartment’s standing with the public”).  And because of posts like these, Hartzell’s 

credibility is likely to be challenged in any case where he testifies as a witness against a Muslim 

person, regardless of whether or not the District Attorney’s Office issued him a Giglio letter. 

The City has demonstrated that Hartzell’s posts were likely to cause significant 

interference with the PPD’s operations.  Because the City’s interest in preventing this disruption 

outweighs Hartzell’s and the public’s interest in his posts, Hartzell’s posts are not protected.  

Accordingly, for the reasons set forth above, summary judgment will be granted in favor of the 

City on Hartzell’s retaliation claim. 

m. Edward McCammitt 

Officer McCammitt began working for the PPD in 1986.  At the Internal Affairs 
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Interview, he was shown twenty-six posts and comments which were attributed to him in the 

Plain View database, and he initialed each.  He does not deny making any of them. 

McCammitt was sanctioned for ten posts.  As determined in Section IV.B supra, each of 

his posts dealt with a matter of public concern.   

Three are memes about Muslims and/or Muslim immigration: 
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Two are memes about use of force by police: 
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Two are memes about gender identity: 
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And three are memes involving violence against protestors: 
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The Outside Counsel Report concluded that these posts “likely would have a significant 

impact on policing because they advocate vigilante violence and excessive force by police 

against protestors, as well as containing anti-Muslim and anti-LGBTQ statements.”  After the 

Internal Affairs interview, the investigator charged McCammitt with Conduct Unbecoming and 

Neglect of Duty.  McCammitt retired a few days later. 

As stated, all of McCammitt’s posts touch on matters of public concern.  The question is 
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whether “the interests of both [McCammitt] and the public in the speech at issue” are 

outweighed by “the [City’s] legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting 

workplace efficiency and avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting 

McGreevy, 413 F.3d at 364). 

Here, the City’s interest is weightier.  Speech like McCammitt’s—which glorifies 

violence against protestors (including, specifically, transgender protestors), advocates for the use 

of lethal force in situations where it may not be necessary (as expressed in the shooting range 

target meme), and suggests a bias against Muslim immigrants—is likely to inflame the public, 

infringing on the PPD’s ability to maintain an effective and efficient working relationship with 

those whom it is meant to serve.  Munroe, 805 F.3d at 474 (“[I]nvective directed against the very 

persons that the governmental agency is meant to serve could be expected to have serious 

consequences for the performance of the speaker’s duties and the agency’s regular operations.”); 

see also Grutzmacher, 851 F.3d at 347 (speech that “advocat[ed] violence to certain classes of 

people” was likely to disrupt a fire department’s operations because it had the “potential . . . to 

diminish the [d]epartment’s standing with the public”).  To take just one example, officers are 

frequently tasked with ensuring the safety of protestors; when one posts a meme expressing that 

he sees protestors as no more than speed bumps in the roadway, there is an appreciable 

likelihood that members of the public may doubt that they will be protected if they attend a 

protest.  Police rely on the “relationship of trust between the police . . . and the communities they 

serve,” Locurto, 447 F.3d at 183, and posts like McCammitt’s are likely to disrupt that 

relationship. 

The City has demonstrated that McCammitt’s posts were likely to cause significant 

interference with the PPD’s operations.  Because the City’s interest in preventing this disruption 
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outweighs McCammitt’s and the public’s interest in his posts, McCammitt’s posts are not 

protected.  Accordingly, for the reasons set forth above, summary judgment will be granted in 

favor of the City on McCammitt’s retaliation claim. 

n. Raphael McGough 

Detective McGough raises a genuine dispute about the meaning of one of his posts.  But 

because the City has demonstrated that its interest in preventing disruption outweighs 

McGough’s interest in speaking even when that dispute is resolved in McGough’s favor, the City 

is entitled to summary judgment on McGough’s First Amendment retaliation claim. 

Detective McGough began working for the PPD in 2003.  At the Internal Affairs 

interview, McGough was shown thirty-six social media posts and comments from the Plain View 

database, of which he initialed each.  McGough did not deny making any of them. 

McGough was disciplined for four posts.  As determined in Section IV.B supra, each of 

his posts dealt with a matter of public concern: 
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 The Outside Counsel Report concluded that these posts “would likely have some impact 

on policing because they advocate vigilante violence and violence against protestors and suggest 

racial animus.”  After the Internal Affairs interview, McGough’s commanding officer charged 

him with Neglect of Duty, for which he was given a reprimand.  The District Attorney’s Office 

also issued McGough a Giglio letter for making Facebook posts “exhibiting disrespect for the 

law.” 

As stated, all of McGough’s posts touch on matters of public concern.  The question is 

whether “the interests of both [McGough] and the public in the speech at issue” are outweighed 

by “the [City’s] legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting workplace 

efficiency and avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting 

McGreevy, 413 F.3d at 364). 

Here, the balance tips in favor of the City.  In his post about Antifa members in Germany 

sharing photos of German police officers on the Internet, McGough wrote “If they show up at 

any cops [sic] house they should be eliminated.”  McGough does not argue that the 

“eliminat[ion]” he calls for in this post should be understood to refer to anything less than the 

extrajudicial killing of Antifa members.  A police officer’s call for a group of people—even 

political actors that he considers extremists—to be “eliminated” is likely to significantly erode 

the public’s trust in the police force.  Grutzmacher, 851 F.3d at 347 (speech that “advocat[ed] 

violence to certain classes of people” was likely to disrupt a fire department’s operations because 

it had the “potential . . . to diminish the [d]epartment’s standing with the public”).   

Or consider McGough’s comment “Street Justice.  One for the good guy I mean girl” 

atop a post about a woman who purportedly stabbed her boyfriend in order to thwart his 

attempted assault of her daughter.  This celebration of extrajudicial violence, coming from a 
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police officer, has a high likelihood to erode the “relationship of trust” between the public and 

the PPD that the agency relies on to do its job efficiently and effectively.  Locurto, 447 F.3d at 

183.  And McGough’s Giglio letter—which was issued on the grounds that his posts evidenced a 

“disrespect for the law”—carries the potential to vitiate his credibility in a criminal proceeding 

during which he may testify, which significantly “impedes the performance of [his] duties” as a 

police officer.  Rankin, 483 U.S. at 388.20 

The City has demonstrated that McGough’s posts were likely to cause significant 

interference with the PPD’s operations.  Because the City’s interest in preventing this disruption 

outweighs McGough’s and the public’s interest in his posts, his posts are not protected.  

Accordingly, for the reasons set forth above, summary judgment will be granted in favor of the 

City on McGough’s retaliation claim. 

o. Michael Melvin 

Sergeant Melvin began working for the PPD in 1995.  He was interviewed twice.  In the 

first interview with Internal Affairs, He denied making any posts or comments of an offensive or 

inflammatory nature.  At his second interview, he was shown forty posts contained in the Plain 

View database and did not deny making any of them. 

Melvin was sanctioned for fifteen posts.  As determined in Section IV.B supra, each of 

his posts dealt with a matter of public concern.   

Four concern respect for law enforcement, the military, and the American flag: 

 
20 The Parties disagree about the meaning of McGough’s exchange with a Facebook friend on a post concerning 

basketball star LeBron James’ political commentary.  The City argues that this exchange “evoked a racially 

insensitive trope by comparing [James] to an orangutan.”  McGough counters that the “racially insensitive trope” in 

question—the word “orangutan”—was meant to refer to President Donald Trump’s tan, not James’ race.  This is a 

genuine dispute, considering that the post is as much about President Trump as it is about James, and considering the 

ubiquity in 2017 of jokes about the President’s tan.  However, the meaning of this post is not material to McGough’s 

retaliation claim because, whether it is understood to refer to Donald Trump or to highlight the irony of a 

grammatical error in a critique of the educational level of others, the City’s interest in preventing the actual or likely 

disruption attributable to McGough’s other posts outweighs his and the public’s interest in the post. 
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Five are posts sharing news stories about crimes, often with commentary from Melvin: 
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And the last six are memes making jokes or warning their reader about a variety of groups and 

individuals:  
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The Outside Counsel Report considered these fifteen posts to pose a “significant impact 

on policing based on several posts that advocate police brutality or vigilante-style violence 

against protestors, as well as posts that are anti-Muslim, racist, and anti-LGBTQ.”  After the 

Internal Affairs interviews, the Commissioner issued a Direct Action charging Melvin with 

Conduct Unbecoming and Neglect of Duty.  The District Attorney’s Office also issued Melvin a 

Giglio letter which described his posts as “threatening violence against transgender individuals 

and exhibiting anti-Muslim bias.”  Melvin was dismissed from the PPD, but resigned before his 

dismissal became effective.  

As stated, all of Melvin’s posts touch on matters of public concern.  The question is 

whether “the interests of both [Melvin] and the public in the speech at issue” are outweighed by 

“the [City’s] legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting workplace 

efficiency and avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting 

McGreevy, 413 F.3d at 364). 

Here, Melvin’s posts are likely to disrupt the PPD’s effective operation, and the City’s 

interest in preventing that disruption outweighs Melvin’s and the public’s interest in his posts.  

Several of Melvin’s posts advocate for extrajudicial violence—e.g., the post commenting that 

two individuals charged with murder are “pieces of garbage” who “should be thrown intro [sic] a 

wood chipper,” or the post imagines greeting a transgender person who uses a gender 

conforming bathroom with a pistol.  Posts like these are significantly likely to undermine the 

public’s trust in the PPD.  Grutzmacher, 851 F.3d at 347.  Another post makes fun of Muslim 

women who wear burkas—this post is highly disruptive because it expresses disrespect for 

Muslim women, who are among “the very persons that the [PPD] is meant to serve . . . .”  

Munroe, 805 F.3d at 474.  Comments like these are also likely to compromise Melvin’s 
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credibility at trial, as evidenced by the Giglio letter he received from the District Attorney’s 

Office.  Melvin also testified that fellow officers distanced themselves from him after his posts 

came to light, which demonstrates that his posts had a “detrimental impact on close working 

relationships for which personal loyalty and confidence are necessary . . . .”  Rankin, 483 U.S. at 

388. 

The City has demonstrated that Melvin’s posts were likely to cause significant 

interference with the PPD’s operations.  Because the City’s interest in preventing this disruption 

outweighs Melvin’s and the public’s interest in the posts, Melvin’s posts are not protected.  

Accordingly, for the reasons set forth above, the City’s Motion for Summary Judgment will be 

granted as to Melvin’s First Amendment retaliation claim. 

p. Brion Milligan 

Officer Milligan began working for the PPD in 1996.  At the Internal Affairs interview, 

Milligan was shown one hundred social media comments and posts, none of which denied 

making.   

He was sanctioned for twelve of his posts.  As determined in Section IV.B supra, each of 

his posts dealt with a matter of public concern.   

Three of them are about Muslims: 
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Two are about “liberals:” 
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Four are about police and policing: 
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And the last three involve a grab-bag of topics—Facebook censorship of a previous post wishing 

ill on a celebrity; a news story about a botched execution; and the historical plight of Irish-

Americans. 
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The Outside Counsel Report determined that these twelve posts could have a “significant 

impact on policing based on advocacy of violence, racial/ethnic stereotyping, anti-Muslim 

comments and anti-LGBTQ comments,” as well as “derogatory comments about police 

department officials that include ethnic stereotyping.”  After the Internal Affairs interview, the 

Commissioner issued a Direct Action charging Milligan with Conduct Unbecoming and Neglect 

of Duty.  The District Attorney’s Office also issued Milligan a Giglio letter which described his 

posts as “exhibiting anti-Muslim and anti-transgender bias” as well as “advocating violence.”  

Milligan was dismissed from the PPD. 

As stated, all of Milligan’s posts touch on matters of public concern.  The question is 

whether “the interests of both [Milligan] and the public in the speech at issue” are outweighed by 

“the [City’s] legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting workplace 

efficiency and avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting 

McGreevy, 413 F.3d at 364). 

 Here, Milligan’s posts are likely to cause significant disruption to the PPD’s operations, 

and the City’s interest in preventing that disruption outweighs Milligan’s and the public’s 

interest in the posts.  In two separate posts, Milligan called for liberals to be “put . . . to sleep” 

and “round[ed] up . . . & place[d] . . . in internment camps.”  On a post discussing the civil unrest 

in Ferguson, Missouri and the subsequent police response, Milligan wrote “enough of the 

questions & criticisms anymore, let’s just crack heads.”  Elsewhere, he wished that Bruce 

Springsteen would be sexually assaulted in retaliation for expressing support for transgender 

people, and warned that, because of “[h]ate rallies” held in Dearborn, Michigan—which he 

claims has the “[b]iggest [M]uslim population in the U.S.”—“[World War III] is about to kick 

into 2nd gear.”  These comments all “advocate violence to certain classes of people,” such as 

Case 2:20-cv-03336-WB   Document 115   Filed 10/28/24   Page 228 of 298



229 

 

liberals, those who support Muslim and transgender people, and others, and are therefore highly 

likely “to diminish the [PPD’s] standing with the public . . . .”  Grutzmacher, 851 F.3d at 347.  

Posts of this sort have a high potential to compromise Milligan’s credibility as a witness in just 

about any criminal proceeding, as recognized by the District Attorney’s Office when it issued 

him a Giglio letter. 

The City has demonstrated that Milligan’s posts were highly likely to cause significant 

interference with the PPD’s operations.  Because the City’s interest in preventing this disruption 

outweighs Milligan’s and the public’s interest in the posts, Milligan’s posts are not protected.  

Accordingly, for the reasons set forth above, the City’s Motion for Summary Judgment will be 

granted as to Milligan’s First Amendment retaliation claim. 

q. Mark Palma 

Sergeant Palma began working for the PPD in 1989.  The Plain View database contains 

43 posts attributed to him.  He was shown each of these posts during his Internal Affairs 

interview; although he initially denied having made some or all of them, he admits now having 

made the posts shown to him at that time. 

Palma was sanctioned for eleven of his posts.  As determined in Section IV.B supra, each 

of his posts dealt with a matter of public concern.   

Four of them involved crimes or current events in Philadelphia: 
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Two dealt with clashes between police and protestors: 
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Two were stories or videos about crimes outside of Philadephia: 
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And one is either an Islamophobic or a racist meme: 
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The Outside Counsel Report considered these eleven posts to pose a “significant” level of 

disruption.  After the Internal Affairs interview, the Commissioner issued a Direct Action 

charging Palma with Conduct Unbecoming and Neglect of Duty.  The District Attorney’s Office 

also issued him a Giglio letter which described his posts as “exhibiting racial and anti-Muslim 

bias and advocating excessive force against protesters.”  Palma was dismissed from the PPD, but 

retired before the dismissal became effective. 

As stated, all of Palma’s posts touch on matters of public concern.  The question is 

whether “the interests of both [Palma] and the public in the speech at issue” are outweighed by 

“the [City’s] legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting workplace 

efficiency and avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting 

McGreevy, 413 F.3d at 364). 

 Here, the City’s interest is weightier.  Several of Palma’s posts are calls for violence 

against individuals or groups—for example, the comment “he needs to be shot in the throat” (on 

an article about the perpetrator of a shooting and robbery); the comment “the adult needs to get 

hit with a 2x4” (on a video showing an adult beating a child); and the meme encouraging riot 

squads to hospitalize ‘black bloc’ protestors.  These posts have the potential to erode a 

community member’s trust that the PPD will treat them fairly should they engage in a protest or 

be arrested for a crime.  See Grutzmacher, 851 F.3d at 347 (speech that “advocat[ed] violence to 

certain classes of people” was likely to disrupt a fire department’s operations because it had the 

“potential . . . to diminish the [d]epartment’s standing with the public”).  His posts making fun of 

Muslims direct “invective . . . against the very persons that the governmental agency is meant to 

serve,” and therefore “could be expected to have serious consequences for the performance of 

[Palma’s] duties and the [PPD’s] regular operations.”  Munroe, 805 F.3d at 474.  And all of these 
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posts could be used to diminish Palma’s credibility in a case where he is called to testify against 

a defendant, as recognized by the District Attorney’s Office when it issued him a Giglio letter 

characterizing his posts as “exhibiting racial and anti-Muslim bias and advocating excessive 

force against protesters . . . .” 

The City has demonstrated that Palma’s posts were likely to cause significant interference 

with the PPD’s operations.  Because the City’s interest in preventing this disruption outweighs 

Palma’s and the public’s interest in his posts, his posts are not protected.  Accordingly, for the 

reasons set forth above, summary judgment will be granted in favor of the City on Palma’s 

retaliation claim. 

r. Joseph Przepiorka 

Sergeant Przepiorka began working for the PPD in 1989.  The Plain View database 

contains ninety-four posts attributed to him.  When he was shown each of these posts by Internal 

Affairs investigators, he did not deny making any of them. 

Przepiorka was sanctioned for forty-one posts.  As determined in Section IV.B supra, 

each of his posts dealt with a matter of public concern.   

Twenty-two of them involved Islam and its followers: 
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(Przepiorka posted the above image twice—first in 2015, and again in 2016.) 
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Seven are variations on a meme that pokes fun at Mexican people and their accents: 
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The remainder touch on a smattering of topics including, inter alia, immigration, crime, policing, 

bathroom policies with respect to transgender individuals, and protestors: 
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 The Outside Counsel Report considered these forty-one posts to pose a “significant” level 

of disruption.  After the Internal Affairs interview, the Commissioner issued a Direct Action 

charging Przepiorka with Conduct Unbecoming and Neglect of Duty.  The District Attorney’s 

Office also issued him a Giglio letter for making Facebook posts “threatening violence against 

transgender individuals, inciting violence against protestors, and exhibiting anti-Muslim bias.”  

Przepiorka was dismissed from the PPD, but retired before the dismissal became effective. 

As stated, all of Przepiorka’s posts touch on matters of public concern.  The question is 

whether “the interests of both [Przepiorka] and the public in the speech at issue” are outweighed 

by “the [City’s] legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting workplace 

efficiency and avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting 

McGreevy, 413 F.3d at 364). 

Here, that balance tips in favor of the City.  The majority of Przepiorka’s posts consist of 

nothing more than “invective directed against [some of] the very persons that the governmental 

agency is meant to serve”—in this case, Muslim, LGBTQ, and Mexican people—which “could 

be expected to have serious consequences for the performance of the speaker’s duties and the 

agency’s regular operations.”  Munroe, 805 F.3d at 474.  Additionally, many of Przepiorka’s 

posts advocate violence against the aforementioned groups, plus protestors, suspects, and 

defendants, which has the “potential . . . to diminish” the PPD’s “standing with the public . . . .”  

Grutzmacher, 851 F.3d at 347.  Because of these posts, Przepiorka’s credibility with a jury is 

highly likely to be compromised at trial, as the District Attorney’s Office recognized in its Giglio 

letter. 

The City has demonstrated that Przepiorka’s posts were likely to cause significant 

disruption of the PPD’s operations.  Because the City’s interest in preventing this disruption 
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outweighs Przepiorka’s and the public’s interest in his posts, Przepiorka’s posts are not 

protected.  Accordingly, for the reasons set forth above, summary judgment will be granted in 

favor of the City on Przepiorka’s retaliation claim. 

s. Francis Sheridan 

Detective Sheridan began working for the PPD in 1990.  Only two Facebook comments 

are attributed to him, who posted under the name “Frank Sheridan,” in the Plain View Database.  

These comments were shown to him during his Internal Affairs interview, both of which he 

initialed.  He also shared that, on one prior occasion, he had been notified that a foreign device 

had gained access to his Facebook account—though he does not allege specifically that someone 

else posted the comments he was shown. 

The parties agree that the PPD sanctioned Sheridan for only one of his comments.  As 

determined in Section IV.B supra, this comment dealt with a matter of public concern: 
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After the Internal Affairs interview, Sheridan was charged with Neglect of Duty and was 

reprimanded by his commanding officer. 

As stated, Sheridan’s comment touches on a matter of public concern.  The question is 

whether “the interests of both [Sheridan] and the public in the speech at issue” are outweighed by 
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“the [City’s] legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting workplace 

efficiency and avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting 

McGreevy, 413 F.3d at 364). 

Here, the City’s interest is weightier, because the potential for disruption attributable to 

Sheridan’s comment is significant.  Sheridan commented “Thank God for Prison Justice!”21 on a 

news story about a child rapist who had been raped in prison.  Police officers are tasked with 

ensuring the safety of accused and convicted criminals in their custody—even child rapists.  

Sheridan’s comment, insofar as it expresses his approval of an act of extrajudicial violence 

committed against an inmate, could erode the public’s confidence in the police as bastions of law 

and order.  See Munroe, 805 F.3d at 474 (“[I]nvective directed against the very persons that the 

governmental agency is meant to serve could be expected to have serious consequences for the 

performance of the speaker’s duties and the agency’s regular operations.”); see also 

Grutzmacher, 851 F.3d at 347 (speech that “advocat[ed] violence to certain classes of people” 

was likely to disrupt a fire department’s operations because it had the “potential . . . to diminish 

the [d]epartment’s standing with the public”). 

Because the City’s interest in preventing this disruption outweighs Sheridan’s and the 

public’s interest in his comment, Sheridan’s post is not protected.  Accordingly, for the reasons 

set forth above, summary judgment will be granted in favor of the City on Sheridan’s retaliation 

claim. 

 
21 In its Statement of Material Facts submitted in support of the instant Motion, the City alleges that Sheridan 

“linked [the above] article” and “commented ‘Aaaaand justice has been served!’” thereupon.  In response, Sheridan 

argues that another Facebook user “linked” the article and that user—not him—made the “justice has been served” 

comment.  But this is of no moment, in that the record shows it was the “Thank God for Prison Justice” comment 

that was the basis for Sheridan’s discipline. 
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t. William Young 

Corporal Young began working for the PPD in 1989.  In the Internal Affairs interview, 

Young was shown twenty-one posts and comments attributed to him in the Plain View database, 

none of which he denied making. 

The PPD sanctioned Young for thirteen posts and comments.  As determined in Section 

IV.B supra, each of his posts dealt with a matter of public concern.   

Eight posts involve Islam: 
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Four involved matters related to policing: 
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And one involves immigration: 
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The Outside Counsel Report concluded that these thirteen posts “would likely have a 

significant impact on policing based on advocacy of police brutality, a large number of anti-

Muslim comments, as well as racial/ethnic stereotyping and anti-LGBTQ comments.”  After the 

Internal Affairs interview, the Commissioner issued a Direct Action charging Young with 

Conduct Unbecoming and Neglect of Duty.  The District Attorney’s Office also issued Young a 

Giglio letter which described his posts as exhibiting anti-Muslim bias.  Young was dismissed 

from the PPD, but retired before the dismissal became effective. 

As stated, all of Young’s posts touch on matters of public concern.  The question is 

whether “the interests of both [Young] and the public in the speech at issue” are outweighed by 

“the [City’s] legitimate and countervailing interest, as an employer, in ‘promoting workplace 

efficiency and avoiding workplace disruption.’”  Dougherty, 772 F.3d at 991 (quoting 

McGreevy, 413 F.3d at 364). 

 Here, the City’s interest outweighs Young’s and the public’s.  Young’s posts about 

immigrants and Muslims—calling the former “savages” and calling for nationwide bans on the 

religion of the latter—directed “invective . . . against the very persons that the governmental 

agency is meant to serve” and therefore “could be expected to have serious consequences for the 

performance of the [Young’s] duties and the [PPD’s] regular operations.”  Munroe, 805 F.3d at 

474.  This concern is validated by events that transpired following the database’s revelation—as 

Deputy Commissioner Wimberly testified, a group representing the “Islamic community here in 

Philadelphia” met specifically with PPD and/or City leadership and “shared their concerns of 

how . . . police will treat them as people” based on the viewpoints expressed about Muslims in 

posts like Young’s.  These comments could also be used to impeach Young’s credibility in any 

case involving an immigrant or a Muslim person—a worry that the District Attorney’s Office 
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recognized when it issued Young a Giglio letter concerning his posts’ “anti-Muslim bias.” 

The City has demonstrated that Young’s posts were likely to cause significant interference with 

the PPD’s operations.  Because the City’s interest in preventing this disruption outweighs 

Young’s and the public’s appreciable interest in his posts as public speech, Young’s posts are not 

protected.  Accordingly, for the reasons set forth above, summary judgment will be granted in 

favor of the City on Young’s retaliation claim. 

 CONCLUSION 

As set forth above, summary judgment will be granted in favor of the City on all 

Plaintiffs’ First Amendment retaliation claims. 

An appropriate order follows. 

 

BY THE COURT: 

/S/WENDY BEETLESTONE, J.  

       ___________________________ 

WENDY BEETLESTONE, J.  
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